
 

 

 
 

BOARD 

OF 

COMMISSIONERS 
 

 

 

September 09, 2019 

7:00 PM 

 

 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners  September 09, 2019 

  Page 2 of 4 

 

 

This agenda is only a tentative schedule of matters the Commissioners may address at their 

meeting and all items found on it may be deleted, amended or deferred. The Commissioners may 

also, in their absolute discretion, consider matters not shown on this agenda. 
 

Special accommodations for the disabled who attend public meetings can be made by contacting 

the Clerk to the Board 24 hours in advance at 252-338-6363, Ext. 100. 

 

Please turn Cell Phone ringers off during the meeting. 
 

Agenda 
 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

BOC - Regular Meeting 

September 09, 2019 

7:00 PM 

Historic Courtroom, Courthouse Complex 

 

 Call to Order 

ITEM  6:00 PM Closed Session - Property Acquisition and Personnel 

ITEM  7:00 PM Reconvene Board of Commissioners 

 Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance 

 Pastor Bill Blake - McBride United Methodist Church 

ITEM 1. Public Comments 

It is requested that comments be limited to (2-3) minutes. The length and number of comments 

may be limited upon the Chairman’s discretion due to scheduling and other issues. 

ITEM 2. Consideration of Agenda (For discussion and possible action) 

ITEM 3. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement 

ITEM 4. Presentations (For discussion and possible action) 

A. YouthVoice Conference - Adriane Navolis 

B. CMS Junior Beta Club - Starr Brinner 

C. Regional Advisory Council - Gwen Wescott 

D. Broadband Update - Ronald Van Geijn, Eastern Shore Communications 

Recess to South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors Meeting 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners  September 09, 2019 

  Page 3 of 4 

 

Reconvene Board of Commissioners 

ITEM 5. Public Hearings 

A. Ordinance 2019-09-01 Rezoning Application - Dan Porter 

ITEM 6. Old Business (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Travel Policy - Ken Bowman 

B. Library Lease Contract - Ken Bowman 

C. Revised Camden Code Chapter 150 Minimum Housing Code - Dan Porter 

ITEM 7. New Business (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Tax Report - Lisa Anderson 

B. Milltown Boat Ramp Contract - Dan Porter 

ITEM 8. Board Appointments (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Parks & Recreation Advisory Board - Marc O'Neal 

ITEM 9. Consent Agenda  

A. BOC Meeting Minutes - August 5, 2019 

B. Budget Amendments 

C. Tax Collection Report 

D. Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

E. Refunds Over $100.00 - July 2019 

F. Refunds Over $100.00 - August 2019 

G. DMV Monthly Report 

H. Surplus Property Requests 

I. Proposed County Logo & Tag Line 

J. Resolution 2019-09-01 Opposing Proposed Amendment 2 of the Southern Flounder Fishery 

Mngmt. Plan 

K. DHHS Request - Operation Santa Claus Project 

ITEM 10. County Manager's Report 

ITEM 11. Commissioners' Reports 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners  September 09, 2019 

  Page 4 of 4 

 

ITEM 12. Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

A. YTD Sales Tax Revenue Collections 

B. Register of Deeds Report 

C. JCPC Meeting Minutes 

D. Library Report 

ITEM 13. Other Matters (For discussion and possible action) 

ITEM 14. Adjourn 



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 4.A 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   YouthVoice Conference - Adriane Navolis 

 

Attachments:  

 

Summary: 

Adriane Navolis, Camden County's YouthVoice representative, will report on her attendance at 

the NCACC Conference. 

4.A

Packet Pg. 5



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 4.B 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   CMS Junior Beta Club - Starr Brinner 

 

Attachments:  

 

Summary: 

The CMS Junior Beta Club will be recognized for its accomplishments this year at the NC Jr. 

Beta Club Convention in Greensboro as well as the National Convention in Oklahoma City.   

4.B

Packet Pg. 6



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 4.C 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Regional Advisory Council - Gwen Wescott 

 

Attachments:  

 

Summary: 

Mrs. Wescott will provide an update from the Regional Advisory Council. 

4.C

Packet Pg. 7



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 4.D 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Broadband Update - Eastern Shore Communications 

 

Attachments:  

 

Summary: 

Ronald van Geijn of Eastern Shore Communications will give a Broadband update. 

4.D

Packet Pg. 8



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Public Hearings 

 

Item Number: 5.A 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Dan Porter, Planning Director 

 Planning & Zoning 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Ordinance 2019-09-01 Rezoning Application 

 

Attachments: Agenda Summary Sheet Ordinance 2019-09-01

 (DOC) 

Staff Report (PDF) 

Supporting Documents (PDF) 

2019-09-01 - Ordinance Amending the Official Zoning 

Map - Eric Wood

 (DOC) 

 

Summary sheet and supporting documentation attached. 

5.A

Packet Pg. 9



            
      

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 
AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

        

Item Number:  

     

Meeting Date:   September 9, 2019 

Attachments:   Ordinance/Findings/Planning Board  

   Recommendation  

Submitted By: Planning Department  

 

ITEM TITLE:  Public Hearing Ordinance 2019-09-01; 
Rezoning Application (UDO 2019-06-23) 
for Eric Wood 

 
SUMMARY: 
 

Eric Wood met with planning staff on rezoning of his property (approximately 15.64 acres) he purchased 

located adjacent to 204 and 208 County Club Road.  Mr. Wood purchased the property as an investment for 

him and his family with the initial desire to cut out two one acre lots, build two houses on septic systems as 

sewer is not available at this time, and keep remainder of land as farmland.   Current zoning of Rural 

Residential (RR) has a minimum lot size of two acres.         

 

Neighborhood meeting was held July 11, 2019 in the upstairs Courtroom of the Historic Camden County 

Courthouse. (comments included in attached staff report). 

 

Planning Board met on July 17, 2019 and after discussion with applicant, staff and input from adjacent 

owner Planning Board made the following motions: 

 

- Consistency Statement:  Motion made the requested zoning is consistent with the objective of the 

Comprehensive Plan as it encourages higher density development within the Core Village 

boundaries. 

 

Excerpt from Comprehensive Plan – Vision Statement 

 

“New development will be focused within targeted core areas to breathe new life into established county 

villages and to efficiently use existing and planned infrastructure and public resources. New housing 

choices will be made available to serve families, young professionals, and retirees. Rural areas will 

maintain prominence in the county, and will continue to serve agricultural and forestry production and low 

density residential development.” 

 

Motion passed:  5-0 Vote. 

  

- Motion made to recommended approval of rezoning the 15.64 acre tract from Rural Residential 

(RR) to Village Residential (VR) as recommended by staff.   

  

Motion passed:  5-0 vote. 

 
 
 
 
 

MOTION MADE BY: 

T. White         ____ 

C. Riggs        ____ 

G. Meiggs      ____ 

R. Krainiak     ____ 

R. Munro        ____ 

NO MOTION   ____ 
 
VOTE: 

T. White         ____ 

C. Riggs         ____ 

G. Meiggs      ____ 

R. Krainiak     ____ 
R. Munro        ____ 
ABSENT         ____ 
RECUSED      ____ 
 

5.A.a

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
en

d
a 

S
u

m
m

ar
y 

S
h

ee
t 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
 (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

1. Hold Public Hearing 

2. Amend Agenda for Consideration. 

 

If recommendation is for approval the following two motions are needed. 

 

1. 

- Consistency Statement:  The requested zoning is consistent with the objectives of the 

Comprehensive Plan as it encourages higher density development within the Core Village 

boundaries. 

 

Excerpt from Comprehensive Plan – Vision Statement 

 

“New development will be focused within targeted core areas to breathe new life into established county 

villages and to efficiently use existing and planned infrastructure and public resources. New housing 

choices will be made available to serve families, young professionals, and retirees. Rural areas will 

maintain prominence in the county, and will continue to serve agricultural and forestry production and low 

density residential development.” 

 

2.  

 

- Approve Ordinance 2019-09-01/Rezoning Application (UDO 2019-06-23) to rezone property 

from Rural Residential (RR) to Village Residential (VR). 

 

 

 

5.A.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
en

d
a 

S
u

m
m

ar
y 

S
h

ee
t 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
 (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.b

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
24

86
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 D

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



 

Ordinance No. 2019-09-01 

 

An Ordinance 

Amending the Camden County  

Zoning Map 

Camden County, North Carolina 

 

 

 

Article I: Purpose 

 

The purpose of this Ordinance is to amend the Zoning Map of Camden County, North 

Carolina, which was originally adopted by the County Commissioners on December 20, 

1993, and subsequently amended. 

  

Article II. Amendment to Zoning Map  
 

The Official Zoning Map of Camden County, North Carolina, which was adopted on 

December 20, 1993, and subsequently amended, is hereby amended as follows: 

 

The property currently shown in the Camden County Tax Assessor’s Office as 

PIN 02-8934-04-52-4826 is hereby re-zoned from Rural Residential (RR) to   

Village Residential (VR).   

 

Article III. Penalty 

 

1. Violations of the provision of this Ordinance or failure to comply with any of its  

Requirements, including violations of any conditions and safeguards established 

in connection with grants of variances or Special Use or Conditional Use Permits, 

shall constitute a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of up to five-hundred ($500) 

dollars or a maximum thirty (30) days imprisonment as provided in G. S. 14-4. 

 

2. Any act constituting a violation of the provisions of this Ordinance or a failure to  

comply with any of its requirements, including violations of any conditions and 

safeguards established in connection with the grants of variances or Special Use 

or Conditional Use Permits, shall also subject the offender to a civil penalty of 

one-hundred ($100) dollars for each day the violation continues.  If the offender 

fails to pay the penalty within ten (10) days after being cited for a violation, the 

penalty may be recovered by the county in a civil action in the nature of debt.  A 

civil penalty may not be appealed to the Board of Adjustment if the offender was 

sent a final notice of violation in accordance with Article 151.568 and did not take 

an appeal to the Board of Adjustment within the prescribed time. 

 

3. This Ordinance may also be enforced by any appropriate equitable action. 

 

5.A.d

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
- 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

O
ff

ic
ia

l Z
o

n
in

g
 M

ap
 -

 E
ri

c 
W

o
o

d
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



 

4. Each day that any violation continues after notification by the administrator that  

such violation exists shall be considered a separate offense for purposes of the 

penalties and remedies specified in this section. 

 

5. Any one, all or any combination of the foregoing penalties and remedies may be  

used to enforce this Ordinance. 

            

 

Article IV. Severability 
 

If any language in this Ordinance is found to be invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction or other entity having such legal authority, then only the specific language 

held to be invalid shall be affected and all other language shall be in full force and effect. 

 

 

Article V. Effective Date 

 

This Ordinance is effective upon adoption. 

 

Adopted by the Board of Commissioners for the County of Camden this       day of        ,                                

2019. 

 

 

      County of Camden 

    

      _____________________________ 

      Tom White, Chairman 

      Camden County Board of Commissioners 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

Karen Davis 

Clerk to the Board       (SEAL) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.A.d

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
- 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

O
ff

ic
ia

l Z
o

n
in

g
 M

ap
 -

 E
ri

c 
W

o
o

d
  (

24
86

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Old Business 

 

Item Number: 6.A 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Travel Policy - Ken Bowman 

 

Attachments: Travel Policy (PDF) 

Travel Authorization (PDF) 

Copy of TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT FORM (XLS) 

 

Summary: 

The policy was updated with travel guidance pertaining to per diem rates, credit card 

usage, and mileage allowances for privately owned vehicles. Specifically, the Board will 

be requested to vote on the Mileage Reimbursement and Meal Reimbursement portions 

to provide clarification to staff on adoption of the policy. 

Recommendation: 

Approval. 

6.A

Packet Pg. 46



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

 (
24

99
 :

 T
ra

ve
l P

o
lic

y 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

 (
24

99
 :

 T
ra

ve
l P

o
lic

y 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

 (
24

99
 :

 T
ra

ve
l P

o
lic

y 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

 (
24

99
 :

 T
ra

ve
l P

o
lic

y 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

 (
24

99
 :

 T
ra

ve
l P

o
lic

y 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



6.A.b

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l A
u

th
o

ri
za

ti
o

n
  (

24
99

 :
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT REQUEST
(USE PER TRIP & PER PERSON)

Percentage

NAME: DEPARTMENT CODE(S): 100%

HOME ADDRESS: DESTINATION:

CITY/STATE/ZIP CODE: 

DATE OF TRIP: REASON FOR TRIP:

FROM: TO:

TOTAL

EXPENSES: Date:

1.  MEALS (1)        BREAKFAST - 

 LUNCH - 

DINNER - 

2.  ITEMIZED INCIDENTALS(1)* - 

3.  LOCAL TRANSPORTATION(1) - 

4.  TRANSPORTATION(1) - 

5.  LODGING(1) - 

6.  REGISTRATION FEES(2) - 

7.  CAR RENTAL(1) - 

8.  TELEPHONE (1) - 

9.  TAXI-BUS FARE (1) - 

10.  OTHER (SPECIFY) - 

- 
(1) 514000 (2) 510000

TRANSPORTATION: AIR: (     ) PRIVATE CAR: (     ) COUNTY CAR# (       )

Private Car Miles Traveled (1) 0

*MONTHLY TRAVEL DETAIL CLAIMED: miles @ .58/mile -$      TOTAL EXPENSES:

*(ATTACH WORKSHEET)

This instrument has been preaudited LESS CASH 

in the manner required by the ADVANCE RECEIVED: -$         
Local Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act. AMOUNT DUE

EMPLOYEE: -$         

AMOUNT DUE

Signature of Finance Officer COUNTY:

**ATTACH ITEMIZED RECEIPTS**

I CERTIFY THAT THE ABOVE EXPENDITURES ARE ACTUAL AND REASONABLE AND COMPLY WITH COUNTY TRAVEL POLICIES.

EMPLOYEE DATE DEPARTMENT HEAD

COUNTY MANAGER
5/22/2018

LESS EXPENSES 
PREVIOUSLY PAID BY 
COUNTY CREDIT CARD 
OR COUNTY CHECK

6.A.c

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
p

y 
o

f 
T

R
A

V
E

L
 R

E
IM

B
U

R
S

E
M

E
N

T
 F

O
R

M
  (

24
99

 :
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Old Business 

 

Item Number: 6.B 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Library Lease Contract - Ken Bowman 

 

Attachments: 2019-08-29 rev Camden County Lease (DOCX) 

 

Recommendation: 

Approval. 

6.B

Packet Pg. 54



NORTH CAROLINA 

CAMDEN COUNTY 

 

This TRIPLE NET LEASE AGREEMENT, made and entered into on the 1st day of, September 2019 by and between Wilport 

LLC, whose address is P.O. Box 392. Powells Point, NC 27947, and/or their assigns or successors, hereinafter referred to 

as "Landlord", and Camden County, whose address is P.O. Box 190, Camden, NC 27921, hereinafter referred to as 

“Tenant". 

 

Section 1. Premises: Landlord hereby leases to the Tenant and Tenant hereby leases from the Landlord, upon 

terms and conditions hereinafter set fort that certain building.: designed as Suite C, D. E & F (6,660 SF) situated at 104 

Investors Way, Camden Business Park Camden, North Carolina and commonly known as TARK SHOPPES. 

 

Section 2. Term: The term of this Lease shall be Two (2) Years, beginning in October 1, 2019, and ending 

September 30, 2021, unless terminated earlier as herein provided, or unless renewed as herein provided. The first Lease 

Year Anniversary shall be the date twelve (12) calendar months after the first day of the first full month of the Term 

hereof and successive Lease Year Anniversaries shall be the date twelve (12) calendar months from the previous Lease 

Year Anniversary.  

 

Section 3. Option to Renewal: Landlord grants to Tenant the option to renew this Lease for additional Terms 

("Option Term") on the same covenants and conditions as are herein contained, except as modified by this provision and 

agreement. 

 

a. Exercise of the Option: The option shall be exercised by a writing delivered to Landlord by Tenant at least sixty 

(60) days prior to the expiration oi the Term of this Lease. 

 

b. Effect of Failure to Exercise Option: In the event Tenant shall fail to give Landlord written notice of its election to 

exercise its Option to renew this lease at least sixty (60) days; the expiration of the Term of this Lease, such option shall 

thereafter be and become null and void and of no further force and effect. 

 

Section 4. Rental: The Tenant shall pay to the Landlord or its Agent without demand, an 

annual Lease Year Base Rental of FIFTY THREE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED EIGHTY DOLLARS ($53,280.00). 

 

Plus Estimated Operating Costs of: Insurance $.55/SF ($3,663.00), Taxes $.611; F ($4,462.20), Grounds Maintenance 

$.30/SF ($1,998.00), and Common Area Electric $45.00/month/unit ($2,160.00) for a total annual rental of SIXTY FIVE 

THOUSAND FIVE HIJNDRED SIXTY THREE AND .20/1.00 DOLLARS ($65,563.20), payable in equal monthly installments of 

FIVE THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED SIXTY THREE AND .60/1.00 DOLLARS ($5,463.60) per month rent in advance on the 

first day of each calendar month during the first Lease Year. Tenant is individually responsible for county water and trash 

removal. Rental for any period during the term hereof which is less than one month shall be the pro-rated portion of the 

monthly rental due.  

 

Section 5. Late Charges: If Landlord fails to receive any rent payment within five (5) days after it becomes due, 

Tenant shall pay Landlord, as additional rental, a late charge equal to five percent (5%) of the overdue amount or $100 

whichever is greater, plus any actual bank fees incurred for returned or dishonored checks. The parties agree that such a 

late charge represents a fair and reasonable estimate of the cost Landlord will incur by reason of such late payment. 

 

 

 

 

 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



Section 6. Security Deposit: Tenant has in deposit with Landlord Agent $3,243.60 as a security deposit which shall 

be held as security for the full and faithful performance by Tenant of each and every term, covenant and condition of 

this Lease. If any of the rents or other charges or sums payable by Tenant shall be over-due and unpaid or should 

payments be made on behalf of the Tenant, or should Tenant fail to perform any of the terms of this Lease, then 

Landlord or its Agent may, at its option, appropriate and apply the Security Deposit, or so much thereof as may be 

necessary, to compensate toward the payment of the rents, chargers or other sums due from Tenant, or towards any 

loss, damage of expense sustained  by  Landlord  resulting  from  such  default  on  the part of the Tenant; and in such 

event Tenant shall upon demand restore the Security Deposit to the original sum deposited. In the event Tenant 

furnishes Landlord with proof that all utility bills have been paid through the date of Lease termination, and performs all 

of Tenant's other obligations under this Lease, the Security Deposit shall be returned in full to Tenant with thirty 

(30) days after the date of the expiration or sooner termination of the term of this Lease and the surrender of the 

Premises by Tenant in compliance with the provisions of this Lease. The Security Deposit may be placed in an interest 

bearing account and any interest thereon shall be the property of the party holding the same. 

 

Section 7. Rent Adjustment: The Landlord reserves the right to increase the rental by an amount equaling the total 

increase in ad valorem taxes, hazard/general liability insurance premium and common area expenses, over the amounts 

in effect at the commencement date of this Lease Agreement. Said increase shall be divided by twelve (12) months, 

divided proportionately. and the result added to the monthly rent called for herein, beginning on the first month 

following notification of such increase. 

 

Section 8. Utilities: The Tenant shall pay all charges for utilities, including but not limited to water, gas, electricity, 

light, heat, power and telephone or other communication service used, rendered or supplied upon or in connection with 

the leased property, and shall indemnify the Landlord against any liability or damages on such account. The Landlord 

shall not be liable for any failure of water supply, or electric, or any service by any utility, or injury to person or damage 

to property resulting from steam, gas, electricity, water, rain or snow which may flow or leak from any part of the leased 

property or from any pipes, appliances or plumbing works. Responsibility to pay for a utility service shall include all 

metering, hook-up fees or other miscellaneous charges associated with the installation and maintenance of such utility 

in said party's name. 

 

Section 9. Common Area Expenses; Rules & Regulations: If the Premises are part of a larger building or group of 

buildings, Tenant shall pay as additional rental monthly, in advance, its proportionate share of common area 

maintenance expenses; common area electric, grounds maintenance and water expense (if not metered separately). 

 

Section 10. Landlord Repairs: Landlord agrees to keep in good repair the roof, foundation, and exterior walls of the 

Premises (exclusive of all glass and exclusive of all exterior doors) and underground utility and sewer pipes outside the 

exterior walls of the building, except repairs rendered necessary by the negligence or intentional wrongful act of Tenant, 

its agents, employees or invitees. If the Premises are part of a larger building or group of buildings, then to the extent 

that the grounds are common areas, Landlord shall maintain the grounds surrounding the building, including paving, the 

mowing of grass, care of shrubs and general landscaping. Tenant shall promptly report in writing to Landlord any 

defective condition known to it which Landlord is required to repair and failure to report. Such conditions shall make 

Tenant responsible to Landlord for any liability incurred by Landlord for reason of such conditions.  Tenant accepts the 

Premises in their present condition and as suited for the uses intended by Tenant. 

 

Section 11. Tenant Repairs: Tenant shall, throughout the initial term of this Lease, and any extension or renewal 

thereof, at its expense, maintain in good order and repair the Premises, including the building, plumbing, electrical, 

heating and air conditioning equipment (including but not limited to replacement of parts, compressors, air handling 

units and heating units) and other improvements located thereon, except those repairs expressly required to be made 

by Landlord hereunder. Tenant is responsible for all expenses to eliminate clogged drains, maintain and pump septic 

tank if it becomes necessary or is required by the Health Department at interim inspections. Tenant shall at all times 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



keep all exterior entrances, all glass and show window moldings, all partitions, doors, fixtures, equipment, lighting, 

plumbing and other appurtenances thereto in good order, condition and repair, including replacement when necessary 

and reasonable periodic painting of the interior of the Leased Premises. Tenant shall be responsible for ensuring the 

sidewalk in front of the Leased Premises and any doorways, front or rear, are kept free of debris, snow or ice. Unless the 

grounds are common area of a building(s) larger than the Premises, Tenant further agrees to care for the grounds 

around the building, including paving, the mowing of grass, care of shrubs and general landscaping. Tenant agrees to 

return the Premises to Landlord at the expiration or prior termination of this lease, in as good condition and repair as 

when first received, natural wear and tear, damage by storm, fire, lightning, earthquake or another casualty alone 

excepted. Tenant, Tenant's employees, agents, contractors or subcontractors shall take no action which may void any 

manufacturers or installers warranty with relation to the Premises. Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless 

from any liability, claim, demand or cause of action arising on account of Tenant's breach of the provisions of this 

paragraph. 

  

Section 12. Alterations: Tenant shall not make any alterations, additions, or improvements to the Premises without 

Landlord's prior written consent. Tenant shall promptly remove any alterations, additions, or improvements constructed 

in violation of this Paragraph upon Landlord’s written request. All approved alterations, additions, improvements will be 

accomplished in a good workmanlike manner, in conforn1ity with all applicable laws and regulations, and by a 

contractor approved by Landlord, free of any liens or encumbrances. Landlord may require Tenant to remove any 

alterations, additions, or improvements (whether or not made with Landlord's consent) at the termination of the Lease 

and to restore the Premises to its prior condition, all at Tenant's expense. All alterations, additions and improvements; 

which Landlord has not required Tenant to remove shall become Landlord's property and shall be surrendered to 

Landlord upon the termination of this Lease. 

 

Section 13. Removal of Fixtures: Tenant may (if not in default hereunder) prior to the expiration of this Lease, or any 

extension or renewal thereof, remove fixtures and equipment which it has placed in the Premises, provided Tenant 

repairs all damage to the Premises caused by such removal. This does not include any leasehold improvement which will 

remain with the property. Ownership of all leasehold improvements transfers to landlord upon tenant vacating the 

property.   

 

Section 14. Events of Default: The happening of any one or more of the fo11owing events during the term of this 

Lease, or any renewal or extension thereof, shall constitute a breach of  this Lease on the part of the Tenant: (a) Tenant 

fails to pay the rental as provided for herein (b) Tenant abandons or vacates the Premises; (c) Tenant fails to comply 

with or abide by and perform any other obligation imposed upon Tenant under this Lease; (d) Tenant is adjudicated 

bankrupt; (e) A permanent receiver is appointed for Tenant's property and such receiver is not removed within sixty (60) 

days after written notice from Landlord to Tenant to obtain such removal; (f) Tenant, either voluntarily or involuntarily, 

takes advantage of any debt or relief proceedings under any present or future law, whereby the rent or any part thereof 

is, or is proposed to be reduced or payment thereof deferred; (g) Tenant makes an assignment for benefit of creditors; 

or (h) Tenant's effects are levied upon or attached under process against Tenant, which is not satisfied or dissolved 

within thirty (30) days after written notice from Landlord to Tenant to obtain satisfaction thereof. 

 

Section 15. Remedies Upon Default. Upon the occurrence of Event of Default, Landlord may pursue any one or 

more of the following remedies separately or concurrently, without prejudice to any other remedy herein provided. or 

provided by law: (a) if the Event of Default involves nonpayment of rental and Tenant fails to cure such default within 

five (5) days after receipt of written notice thereof from Landlord, or if the Event of Default involves a default in 

performing any of the terms or provisions of the Lease other than payment of rental and Tenant fails to cure such 

default within fifteen (15) days after receipt of written notice of default from Landlord, Landlord may terminate this 

Lease by giving written notice to Tenant and upon such termination shall be entitled to recover from Tenant damages as 

may be permitted under applicable  law; or (b) if the  Event of Default involves any matter other than those set forth in 

item (a) of this paragraph, Landlord may terminate this Lease by giving written notice to Tenant and> upon such 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



termination, shall be entitled to recover from the Tenant damages in an amount equal to all rental which is due and all  

rental  which  would otherwise have become due throughout the remaining term of this Lease, or any renewal or 

extension thereof (as if this Lease had not been terminated); or (c} upon any Event of Default, Landlord, as Tenant's 

agent, without advertisement and by private negotiations and for any tem1 Landlord deems proper, with Tenant being 

liable to Landlord for the deficiency, if any, between Tenants rent hereunder and the price obtained by Landlord on 

reletting, provided however, that Landlord shall not be considered to be under any duty by reason of this provision to 

take any action to mitigate damages by reason of Tenants default.  In the event Landlord hires an attorney to enforce its 

rights upon default, Tenant shall in addition be liable for reasonable attorney's fees and all costs of col1ection. 

 

Section 16. Condemnation: If the Leased Premises, or any part thereof, is taken by eminent domain, the Lease shall 

expire on the date when the Leased Premises shall be so taken, and the rent shall be apportioned as of that date. No 

part of any award shall belong to the Tenant. 

 

Section 17. Indemnification: Except for claims arising out of acts caused by the affirmative negligence of the 

Landlord or its representatives, the Tenant shall indemnify and defend the Landlord and the Leased Premises, at the 

Tenant's expense, against all claims, expenses, and liabilities arising from (a) the management of any occurrence on or 

about the leased  premises  or  any adjoining street or roadway; (b) any default by  the Tenant  hereunder,  (c)  any  act  

of negligence by the Tenant or its agents, contractors, employees or licensees. 

 

Section 18. Fire or Other Casualty Losses: If the Premises are totally destroyed by storm, fire, lightning, earthquake 

or other casualty, without the fault of the Tenant, this Lease shall terminate as of the date of such destruction and rental 

shall be accounted for as between Landlord and Tenant as of that date. If the premises are damaged but not wholly 

destroyed by any such casualties, without the fault of the Tenant, rental shall abate in such proportion as effective use 

of the Premises has been affected and Landlord shall restore Premises to substantially the same condition as before 

damage as speedily as is practicable, whereupon full rental shall recommence. 

 

Section 19. Insurance: The landlord shall keep the building containing the leased property insured against loss or 

damage by fire with extended coverage endorsement in an amount not less than eighty percent (80%) of the full 

insurable value as determined from year to year. The Tenant shall keep the leased property insured with a tenant 

owners policy for business personal property and betterments throughout the term of this Lease against claims for 

personal injury and property damage, under a policy of general public liability insurance, with such limits as may 

reasonably be requested by the Landlord from time to time, but not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and 

$2,000,000 general aggregate as a combined  single  limit  or  $1,000,000  bodily injury and $1,000,000 property damage 

as a split limit, which insurance shall contain a special endorsement recognizing and insuring any liability accruing to 

Tenant and naming Landlord as additional insured. Tenant shall provide evidence of such insurance to Landlord prior to 

the commencement of the term of this Lease and provide annually an updated certificate of insurance to Landlord. 

Tenant must maintain insurance policy without lapse to remain in compliance with Lease. Tenant agrees to and hereby 

does indemnify and save Landlord harmless against all claims for damages to persons or property by reason of Tenant’s 

use or occupancy of the Premises. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



Section 20. Tax and Insurance Escalation: Tenant shall pay upon demand as additional rental during the term of this 

Lease, and any extensions or renewal thereof; 

□ The amount by which all truces on the Premises for each tax year exceed all taxes on the Premises for the tax 

year  ; or 

 

X all taxes on the Premises for each tax year. 

  

In the event the Premises are less than the entire property assessed for such taxes for any such tax year, then the tax for 

any such year applicable to the Premises shall be determined by proration on the basis that the rentable floor area of 

the Premises bears to the rentable floor area of the entire property assessed. If the final year of the Lease term fails to 

coincide with the tax year, then any excess for the tax year during which the term ends shall be reduced by the pro rata 

part of such tax year beyond the Lease term. If such taxes for the year in which the Lease terminates are not 

ascertainable before payment of the last month's rental, then the amount of such taxes assessed  against  the property 

for the previous tax year shall be used as a basis for determining the pro rata share, if any, to be paid by Tenant for that 

portion of the last lease year. 

 

Tenant shall further pay upon demand as additional rental during the term of this Lease, and any extension or renewal 

thereof: 

□ the excess cost of fire and extended coverage insurance including any and all public liability insurance on the 

building over the cost of the first year of the Lease term for each subsequent year during the term of this Lease; or 

 

X all fire and hazard, and extended coverage insurance including any and all public liability insurance on the 

building. 

 

Section 21. Tenant's Employment Responsibilities:  The Tenant shall be responsible for and save the Landlord 

harmless from all wages, salaries, or other benefits due Tenant's employees. Tenant shall also be solely responsible for 

the acquisition and payment of any goods and/or services used or performed by the Tenant in the conduct of its 

business. 

 

Section 22. Use of Premises: The Premises shall be used for Camden County Library purposes only and no other. 

The Premises shall not be used for any illegal purposes, nor in any manner to create any nuisance or trespass, nor in any 

manner to vitiate the insurance or increase the rate of insurance on the Premises. In the event Tenant's use of the 

Premises results in an increase in the rate of insurance on the Premises, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon demand and 

as additional rental, the amount of any such increase. 

 

Section 23. Hazardous Waste: Tenant specifically agrees that, except for such limited quantities of office 

materials and supplies of such type and in such quantities as are customarily used in Tenant's personal business 

operations (which shall be used only in accordance with applicable law and any manufacturers or suppliers guidelines), 

Tenant shall not engage or permit at any time, any operations or activities upon, or any use or occupancy of the 

Premises, or any portion thereof, for the purpose of or in any way involving the handling, manufacturing, treatment, 

storage, use, transportation, spillage, leakage, dumping,  discharge or disposal (whether legal or illegal, accidental, or 

intentional) of any hazardous substances, materials or wastes, or any wastes regulated under any local, state or federal 

law. 

 

Tenant shall, during the Term, remain in full compliance with all applicable laws governing its use and occupancy of the 

Premises, including, without limitation, the handling, manufacturing, treatment, storage, disposal, discharge, use, and 

transportation of hazardous substances, materials or wastes, and any wastes regulated under any local, state or federal 

law. Tenant will remain in full compliance with the terms and conditions of all pem1its and licenses issued to it by any 

governmental authority on account of any or all of its activities on the Premises. 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



 Section 24. Environmental Laws. (a) Tenant shall not bring onto the Premises any Hazardous Materials (as defined 

below) without the prior written approval by Landlord. Any approval must be preceded by submission to Landlord of 

appropriate Material Safety Data Sheets (MSD Sheets). In the event of approval by Landlord, Tenant covenants that it 

will (1) comply with all requirements of any constituted public authority and all federal, state, and local codes, statutes, 

ordinances, rules and regulations, and laws, whether now in force or hereafter adopted relating to Tenant's use of the 

Premises, or relating to the storage, use, disposal, processing, distribution, shipping or sales of any hazardous, 

flammable, toxic, or dangerous materials, waste or substance, the presence of which is regulated by a federal, slate, or 

local law, ruling, rule or regulation (hereafter collectively referred to as "Hazardous Materials"; (2) comply with any 

reasonable recommendations by the insurance carrier of either Landlord or Tenant relating to the use by Tenant on the 

Premises of such Hazardous Materials; (3) refrain from unlawfully disposing of or allowing the disposal of any Hazardous 

Materials upon, within, about or under the Premises; and (4) remove all Hazardous Materials from the Premises, either 

after their use by Tenant or upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, in compliance  with all applicable 

laws. 
 

(b) Tenant shall be responsible for obtaining all necessary permits in connection with its use, storage and disposal of 

Hazardous Materials, and shall develop and maintain, and where necessary file with the appropriate authorities, all 

reports, receipts, manifests, filings, lists and invoices covering those Hazardous Materials and Tenant shall provide 

Landlord with copies of all such items upon request. Tenant shall provide within five (5) days after receipt thereof, 

copies of all notices, orders, claims or other correspondence from any federal, state or local government or agency 

alleging any violation of any environmental law or regulation by Tenant, or related in any manner to Hazardous 

Materials. In addition, Tenant shall provide Landlord with copies of all responses to such correspondence at the time of 

the response. 
 

(c) Tenant hereby indemnifies and holds harmless Landlord, its successors and assigns from and against any and all 

losses, liabilities, damages, injuries, penalties, fines, costs, expenses and claims of any and every kind whatsoever 

(including attorney's fees and costs, expenses or claims asserted or arising under the Comprehensive Environmental 

Response, Compensation and Liability Act of I 980, as amended, from time to time, and regulations promulgated 

thereunder, any so-called state or local "Superfund" of "Superlien" law, or any other federal, state or local statute, law 

or ordinance, code, rule, regulation, order or decree regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct 

concerning any Hazardous Materials) paid, incurred or suffered by, or asserted against, Landlord as a result of any claim, 

demand or judicial or administrative action by any person or entity (including governmental or private entities) for,  with 

respect to, or as a direct or indirect  result of, the presence on or under or the escape, seepage, leakage, spillage, 

discharge) emission or release from the Premises of any Hazardous Materials caused by Tenant or Tenant's agents, 

employees, invitees or successors in interest. This indemnity shall also apply to any release of Hazardous Materials 

caused by a fire or other casualty to the premises if such Hazardous Materials were stored on the Premises by Tenant, its 

agents, employees, invitees or successors in interest. 

 

(d) If Tenant fails to comply with the Covenants to be performed hereunder with respect to Hazardous Materials, or 

if an environment protection lien is filed against the premises as a result of the actions of Tenant, its agents, employees 

or invitees, then the occurrence of any such events shall be considered a default hereunder. 

  

(e) Tenant will give Landlord prompt notice of any release of Hazardous Materials, reportable or non-reportable, to 

federal, state, or local authorities, of any fire, or any damage occurring on or to the Premises. 

 

(f) Tenant will use and occupy the Premises and conduct its business in such a manner that the Premises are neat, 

clean and orderly at all times with all chemicals or Hazardous Materials marked for easy identification and stored 

according to all codes as outlined above. 

 

(g) The warranties and indemnities contained in this Paragraph shall survive the termination of this Lease. 

 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



 

Section 25. Assignment and Subletting: Tenant shall not, without the prior written consent of Landlord, which shall 

not be unreasonably withheld, assign this Lease or any interest hereunder, or sublet the Premises or any part thereof, or 

permit the use of the Premises by any party other than the Tenant. Consent to any assignment or sublease shall not 

impair this provision and all later assignments or subleases shall be made likewise only on the prior written consent of 

the Landlord. The Assignee of Tenant, at option of Landlord, shall become directly liable to Landlord for all obligations of 

Tenant hereunder, but no sublease or assignment by Tenant shall relieve Tenant of any liability hereunder. 

 

Section 26. Surrender: Upon the termination of this Lease, including any extension thereof, the Tenant shall 

surrender the above described premises to the Landlord in as good condition as the premises were in at the time of the 

initial occupancy thereof, reasonable use and wear and tear by the elements, or fire or other catastrophes not the fault 

of the Tenant, excepted. 

 

Section 27. Landlord's Entry of Premises: Landlord may advertise the Premises "For Rent" or "For Sale" before the 

termination of this Lease. Landlord may enter the Premises at reasonable hours to exhibit same to prospective 

purchasers or tenants and to make repairs required of Landlord under the terms hereof or to make repairs to Landlord's 

adjoining property, if any. 

 

Section 28. Effect of Termination of Lease.  No termination of this Lease prior. to the nomal ending thereof, by lapse 

of time or otherwise, shall affect Landlord's right to collect rent for the period prior to termination thereof. 

 

Section 29. Mortgagee's Rights. Tenant's rights shall be subject to any bona fide mortgage, deed of trust or other 

security interest which is now or may hereafter be placed upon the Premises by Landlord. Tenant shall, if requested by 

Landlord, execute a separate agreement reflecting such subordination, and shall be obligated to execute such 

documentation as may facilitate Landlord's sale or refinancing of the Premises, including, but not limited to, estoppel 

certificates, subordination or attornment agreements. 

 

Section 30. Quiet Enjoyment. So long as Tenant observes and performs the covenants and agreements contained 

herein, it shall at all times during the Lease term peacefully and quietly have and enjoy possession of the Premises, but 

always subject to the terms hereof. Provided, however, that in the event Landlord shall sell or otherwise transfer its 

interest in the Premises, Tenant agrees to attorn to any new owner or interest holder and shall, if requested by 

Landlord, execute a separate agreement reflecting such attornment, provided that said agreement requires the new 

owner or interest holder to recognize its obligations and Tenant's rights hereunder. 

  

Section 31. Holding Over. If Tenant remains in possession of the Premises after expiration of the term hereof, with 

Landlord's acquiescence and without any express agreement of the parties, Tenant shall be a tenant at will at the rental 

rate which is in effect at the end of the Lease and there shall be no renewal of this Lease by operation of law. If Tenant 

remains in possession of the Premises after expiration of the term hereof without Landlords acquiescence, Tenant shall 

be a tenant at sufferance and commencing on the date following the date of such expiration, the monthly rental payable 

under Paragraph 4 above shall for each month, or fraction thereof during which Tenant so remains in possession of the 

premises, be twice the monthly rental otherwise payable under Paragraph 4 above. 

 

Section 32. Abandonment. Tenant shall not abandon the Premises at any time during the Lease term. If Tenant shall 

abandon the Premises or be dispossessed by process of law, any Personal Property belonging to Tenant and left on the 

Premises shall, at the option of Landlord, be deemed abandoned, and available to Landlord to use or sell to offset any 

rent due or any expenses incurred by removing same and restoring the Premises. 

 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



Section 33. Attorney's Fees: In the event that any action or proceeding is brought to enforce any term, covenant or 

condition of this Lease on the part of Landlord or Tenant, the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to 

recover reasonable attorney's fees and costs. 

 

Section 34. Rights Cumulative. All rights, powers and privileges conferred hereunder upon parties hereto shall be 

cumulative and not restricted of those given by law. 

 

Section 35. Waiver of Rights. No failure of Landlord to exercise any power given Landlord hereunder or to insist 

upon strict compliance by Tenant of its obligations hereunder and no custom or practice of the parties at variance with 

the terms hereof shall constitute a waiver of Landlord's right to demand exact compliance with the terms hereof. 

 

Section 36. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence in this Lease. 

 

Section 37. Applicable Law: This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted under the 

laws of the State of North Carolina. 

 

Section 38. Successors and Assigns: This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 

hereto and their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 

 

Section 39. Counterparts: This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be 

deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

 

Section 40. Headings: The headings, subheadings, and captions in this Agreement and in any exhibit hereto are for 

reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 

 

Section 41. Definitions. "Landlord" as used in this Lease shall include the undersigned, its heirs, representatives, 

assigns and successors in title to the Premises. "Agent" as used in this Lease shall mean the party designated as same, its 

heirs, representatives, assigns and successors. "Tenant" shall include the undersigned and its heirs, representatives, 

assigns and successors, and if this Lease shall be validly assigned or sublet, shall include also Tenant's assignees or 

sublessees as to the Premises covered by such assignment or sublease. "Landlord", "Tenant', and “agent" include male 

and female, singular and plural, corporation, partnership or individual, as may fit the particular parties. 

 

Section 42. Notices: All notices required or permitted under this Lease shall be in writing and shall be personally 

delivered or sent by U.S. certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid.  Notices to Tenant shall be delivered 

or sent to the address shown at the beginning of this Lease, except that upon Tenant taking possession of the Premises, 

then the Premises shall be Tenant's new address for such purposes. Notices to Landlord shall be delivered or sent to the 

address shown at the beginning of this Lease and notices to Agent, if any, shall be delivered or sent to the address set 

forth in Paragraph 4 hereof. 

 

All notices shall be effective upon delivery. Any party may change its notice address upon written notice to the other 

parties, given as provided herein. 

 

Section 43. Entire Agreement: This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties hereto with 

respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all negotiations, prior discussions, agreements, arrangements and 

understandings, written or oral, relating to the subject matter hereof 

 

Section 44. Authorized Lease Execution: Each individual executing this Lease as director, officer, partner, member, 

or agent of a corporation, limited liability company, or partnership represents and warrants that he is duly authorized to 

execute and deliver this Lease on behalf of such corporation, limited liability company, or partnership. 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



 

Section 45. Transfer of Landlord's Interest: In the event of the sale, assignment or transfer by Landlord or its interest 

in the Premises or in this Lease (other than a collateral assignment to secure a debt of Landlord) to a successor in 

interest who expressly assumes the obligations of Landlord under this Lease, Landlord shall thereupon be released and 

discharged from all its covenants and obligations under this Lease, except those obligations that have accrued prior to 

such sale, assignment or transfer; and Tenant agrees to look solely to the successor in interest of Landlord for the 

performance of those covenants accruing after such sale, assignment or transfer. Landlord's assignment of this Lease, or 

of any or all of its rights in this Lease, shall not affect Tenant's obligations hereunder, and Tenant shall attorn and look to 

the assignee as Landlord, provided Tenant has first received written notice of the assignment of Landlord's interest. 

 

Section 46. Amendments: This Agreement may not be amended except by written instrument duly executed by or 

on behalf of all of the parties hereto. 

 

Section 47. Memorandum of Lease: Upon request by either Landlord or Tenant, the parties hereto shall execute a 

short form (Memorandum of Lease) in recordable form, setting forth such provisions hereof (other than the amount of 

Base Monthly Rent and other sums due) as either party may wish to incorporate.  The cost of recording such 

Memorandum of Lease shall be borne by the party requesting execution of same. 

 

Section 48. Build Out: The Landlord shall provide a shell space to include: plumbing brought through the slab for 

Men & Women restrooms, the SE cable from the gang meter to the back of the building with a 200 AMP panel. The 

Tenant shall be responsible for all cost incurred for build out for their specific plans, layout, business type, etc. 

Contractor shall complete construction to the Premises pursuant to final Plans and Specifications approved by Landlord 

and Tenant (the "Improvements''), in compliance with all applicable codes and regulations, any required permit or 

approvals, and recorded documents, and in a good and workman-like- manner free of defects. Refer to Exhibit HA", 

Construction by Tenant During Tenn. 

 

Section 49. Signage: Except as may be specifically set forth in the Lease, Tenant may not install, inscribe, paint or 

affix any awning, shade, sign, advertisement or notice on or to any part of the outside of the Premises without the 

express written consent of the Landlord. No items of any type shall be allowed on the sidewalk area without the prior 

written consent of Landlord. For aesthetic purposes, all signs will be approved by the Landlord and installed at Tenant's 

sole expense. Any and all signs placed on the Premises by Tenant shall be maintained in compliance with governmental 

rules and regulations governing such signs and Tenant shall be responsible to Landlord for any damage caused by 

installation, use or maintenance of said signs, and all damage incident to removal thereof. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



 

Additional Conditions: 

 

A ONE TIME LEASE ADJUSTMENT PAYMENT DUE FROM TENANT AT LEASE SIGNING: $33,300 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS DOCUMENT IS A LEGAL DOCUMENT. EXECUTION OF THIS DOCUMENT HAS LEGAL CONSEQUENCES THAT COULD BE 

ENFORCEABLE IN A COURT OF LAW. NO REPRESENTATIONS ARE MADE CONCERNING THE LEGAL SUFFICIENCY, LEGAL 

EFFECT OR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THIS DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTION TO WHICH IT RELATES AND RECOMMENDS 

THAT YOU CONSULT YOUR ATTORNEY. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Lease Agreement has been executed by each party hereto, in duplicate originals, on the date 

and year first above written. 

 

 

LANDLORD      TENANT 

 

 

 

 

 

By:                                                           (SEAL)   By:                                                           (SEAL) 

 

 

Date                                                                  Date:                                                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



 

 

 Exhibit A 

 

 

 

CONSTRUCTION BY TENANT DURING TERM 

 

 

 

Section 1. Tenant to Complete.  If Tenant wishes to make changes to the Premises, such changes shall be completed 

pursuant to the provisions of the Lease and this Exhibit A. Tenant shall bear all costs of the improvements, which shall be 

performed by Tenants general contractor ("Contractor''). 

 

Contractor shall complete construction to the Premises pursuant to final Plans and Specifications approved by Landlord 

and Tenant (the "Improvements"), in compliance with all applicable codes and regulations, any required permit or 

approvals, and recorded documents, and in a good and workmanlike manner free of defects. Tenant's selections of 

finishes and materials shall be indicated on the Plans and Specifications and shall be equal to or better than the 

minimum building standards and specifications. 

 

Section 2. Requirements Prior to Commencement: Prior to commencing any work: 

a) Tenant's proposed Contractor and the Contractor's proposed principal subcontractors and suppliers shall be 

licensed and in good status with State and Local jurisdictions, licensing boards and/or the equivalent; 

b) Contractor shall submit to Landlord and Tenant a written bid for completion of the Improvements. Said bid shall 

include Contractor's overhead, profit and fees; 

c) Tenant or Contractor shall submit all Plans and Specifications to Landlord together with the location and use of 

any proposed staging areas, and no work on the Premises shall be commenced before Tenant has received Landlord's 

final written approval thereof, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. 

d) Contractor shall complete all architectural and planning review and obtain all permits, including signage, 

required by the city, state or county in which the Premises are located; and; 

e) Contractor shall submit to Landlord verification of liability and workmen's compensation insurance adequate to 

fully protect Landlord and Tenant  from and against  any and  all liability for death or injury to persons or damage to 

property  caused in or about or  by reason of the construction of any work done by Contractor or Contractor's 

subcontractors or suppliers; Landlord may determine the adequacy of such insurance, without limitation, in light of their 

consistency with the provisions in the Lease relating to Tenant's insurance. 

f) Unless otherwise waived in writing by Landlord, which waiver shall be in Landlord's sole discretion, Contractor 

shall provide payment and performance bonds in an amount equal to 100% of the estimate amount of Improvements. 

 

Section 3. Landlord's Administration.  Contractor and Contractor's subcontractors and suppliers sha11 be subject to 

Landlord's reasonable administrative control and supervision. Landlord shall provide Contractor and Contractor's 

subcontractors and suppliers with reasonable access to the Premises. 

 

Section 4. Contractor to Comply with Procedures. During construction of the Improvements, Contractor shall adhere to 

the procedures shown in this Exhibit A, which represent Landlord's minimum requirements for completion of the 

Improvements. 

 

Section 5. Proof of Payment. Upon completion of the Improvements, Tenant shall provide Landlord with such evidence 

as Landlord may reasonably request that the Contractor has been paid in full, and Contractor shall provide Landlord with 

the lien releases as requested by 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



  

Landlord, confirmation that no liens have been filed against the Premises or the Shopping Center. If any liens arise 

against the Premises or the Shopping Center as a result of the improvements, Tenant shall immediately, at Tenant's sole 

expense, remove such liens and provide Landlord evidence that the title to the Shopping Center and Premises have been 

cleared of such liens. 

 

CONSTRUCTION POLICY 

The following policies outlined are the construction procedures for the Shopping Center. 

As a material consideration to Landlord for granting Landlord's permission to Tenant to . complete the construction 

contemplated hereunder, Tenant agrees to be bound by and follow the provisions contained herein below: 

 

Section 6. Administration. 

a) Contractors must notify Landlord in writing at Wilport LLC, P.O. Box 392, Powells Point, NC 27947, attention 

Gary Woodson, Agent Representative, (252-491-8765 / 252-473-7240), prior to starting any work. 

b) As-built construction, including mechanical drawings and air balancing reports will be submitted at the end of 

each project. 

c) The Contractor must provide for the removal of all trash and debris arising during the course of construction.  At 

no time are the building's trash compactors and/or dumpsters to be used by the Contractor's cleanup crews for the 

disposal of any trash or debris accumulated during construction. Landlord assumes no responsibility for bins. Contractor 

is to monitor and resolve any problems with bin usage. Bins are to be emptied on a regular basis and never allowed to 

overflow. Trash is to be placed in the bin at all times. 

d) All HVAC contractors must provide the following items to Landlord or its agent: 

(i) plan showing the new ducting layout, all supply and return air grille locations and all thermostat locations, including 

the location of any fire dampers, and (ii) an Air Balance Report reflecting the supply air capacity throughout the suite, 

which is to be given to Landlord or its agent at the finish of the HVAC installation. 

e) Any problems with construction per the plan, will be-brought to the attention of and documented to the 

Landlord. Any material and substantial changes that need additional work not described in the Plans and Specifications 

must be approved in writing in advance by Landlord. 

 

Section 7. Premises and Shopping Center. Tenant shall make no alterations or improvements or do any other work which 

would result in diminished market value of the Premises or Shopping Center. 

 

Section 8. Construction Requirements. 

a) All Life and Safety and applicable Building Codes will be strictly enforced (i.e., tempered glass, fire dampers, exit 

signs, smoke detectors, alarms, etc.); Tenant or its agent shall coordinate the same in advance with Landlord or its 

agent. 

b) Electric panel schedules must be brought up to date identifying all new circuits added. 

c) All electrical outlets and lighting circuits are to be properly identified. Outlets will be labeled on back side of 

each cover plate. 

d) All electrical and phone closets being used must have panels replaced and doors shut at the end of each day's 

work. Any electrical closet that is opened with the panel exposed must have a work person present. 

e) All electricians, telephone personnel, etc. will, upon completion of their respective projects pick up and discard 

their trash leaving the rooms clean. If this is not complied with, a cleanup will be conducted by the building janitors and 

the general contractor will be back charged for this se1vice. 

f) Welding or burning with an open flame will not be done without prior approval of the Landlord or its agent. Fire 

extinguishers must be on hand at all times. 

g) Neither "anchoring" of walls or supports to the concrete or core drilling may be 

done during normal business hours. This work must be scheduled after hours. 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



h) All HVAC work must be inspected by Landlord or its agent. The following procedures will be followed by the 

general contractor: (i) a preliminary inspection of the HVAC work in progress will be scheduled through Landlord or its 

agent prior to the reinstallation of the ceiling grid, (ii) a second inspection of the HVAC operation will also be scheduled 

through Landlord or its agent and will take place with the attendance of the HVAC contractor's Air Balance engineer. 

This inspection will take place when the suite in question is read to be air balanced. (iii) Landlord or its agent will inspect 

the construction on a periodic basis as well. 

i) All existing thermostats, ceiling tiles, lighting fixtures and air conditioning grilles 

shall be saved and turned over to Landlord or its agents. 

j) The work site and common areas involved must be kept clean at a11 times. Food and related lunch debris are 

not to be left in the construction 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.B.a

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

08
-2

9 
re

v 
C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ea

se
  (

25
04

 :
 L

ib
ra

ry
 L

ea
se

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Old Business 

 

Item Number: 6.C 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Dan Porter, Planning Director 

 Planning & Zoning 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Revised Camden Code Chapter 150 Minimum Housing Code 

- Dan Porter 

 

Attachments: Agenda Summary Sheet Minimum Housing code 2

 (DOCX) 

Chapter 150 Code Final Revision (DOCX) 

 

See attached summary, recommendation and supporting documentation.  

Note:  Language has been added that establishes four very specific criteria for investigating 

possible code violations. 

6.C

Packet Pg. 68



 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 
 

 

 

Meeting Date:   September 9, 2019 
 

Attachments:  Camden Code Chapter 150  

  

Submitted By: Planning Department 
 

ITEM TITLE:   Revised Camden Code Chapter 

150 Minimum Housing code 

 

SUMMARY: 
 

August 5, 2019 was the first meeting this ordinance was 

presented. This type of ordinance (one that does not require a public hearing) requires 

unanimous vote to pass on first reading. Since the vote to approve was 3 to 2, it must be 

scheduled for the next regular meeting. At this meeting, it only requires majority vote to 

pass. 

 

Section 150.20 has been amended as shown in bold and underlined to provide 

specific criteria under which inspectors may inspect for violations. 

 

Sections 150.03 through 150.18 prescribe the specific minimum standards for habitable 

housing. The existing Chapter 150 includes some specifics but primarily refers to 

citations in the state building codes.  In order to make the ordinance more user friendly 

the revised chapter states the specific standards for each type of structural elements.  The 

standards are verbatim from the State Building Code. 

 

Sections 150.19 through 150.23 are revised to outline a clear procedure to prosecute 

violations in compliance with the General Statutes.  The procedure outlines the specific 

notices and a hearing required and gives the building inspector authority to condemn and 

have non-compliant structures demolished, subject to appeal to the Board of 

Commissioners.  If an appeal is not made within 10 days the inspector’s decision is final. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

1. Motion to approve replacing the existing Chapter 150 Building Regulations: 

Construction with the proposed Ordinance No. 2019-08-01.  

 

2. Motion to direct the building Inspections division to conduct investigations 

according to Chapter 150.2 (C ). 

MOTION MADE BY: 

C. Riggs  

T. White  

G. Meiggs  

R. Krainiak  

R. Munro  

NO MOTION   

VOTE: 

C. Riggs  

T. White  

G. Meiggs  

R. Krainiak  

R. Munro  

ABSENT           

RECUSED    

6.C.a

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
en

d
a 

S
u

m
m

ar
y 

S
h

ee
t 

M
in

im
u

m
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 c

o
d

e 
2 

 (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 1 

Ordinance No.   

 

An Ordinance 

Amending the Camden County 

Code of Ordinances 

   

Camden County, North Carolina 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CAMDEN COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS as 

follows: 

 

Article I: Purpose 

 

The purpose of this Ordinance is to amend Chapter 150 of the Camden County Code of 

Ordinances of Camden County, North Carolina, which was originally adopted by the County 

Commissioners on December 15, 1997, and subsequently amended and as otherwise 

incorporated into the Camden County Code.  This code of ordinances hereby adopts the current 

North Carolina State Building Codes with Amendments and the current National Electrical Code 

with North Carolina Amendments as indicated by the North Carolina Department of Insurance 

(NCDOI) and listed on their website as current.  This Ordinance also hereby adopts the current 

North Carolina General Statutes with Amendments. 

 

Article II. Construction 

 

Article III. Amend Chapter 150 as amended of the Camden County Code which shall read 

as follows: 

CHAPTER 150:  BUILDING REGULATIONS; CONSTRUCTION 

 Section Housing Code 

 

 150.01 Findings; purpose 

 150.02 Definitions 

 150.03 Minimum standards of fitness for dwellings and dwelling units 

 150.04 Minimum standards for structural condition 

 150.05 Minimum standards for safe and sanitary maintenance 

 150.06 Minimum standards for control of insects, rodents and infestations 

 150.07 Minimum standards applicable to rooming houses; exceptions 

 150.08 Minimum standards for fire resistant  

 150.09 Minimum standards for light, ventilation and heating 

 150.10 Minimum standards for minimum room areas 

 150.11 Minimum standards for ceiling heights 

 150.12 Minimum standards for sanitation  

 150.13 Minimum standards form emergency escape and rescue  

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 2 

 150.14 Minimum standards for means of egress  

 150.15 Minimum standards for guards and window fall protection  

 150.16 Minimum standards for smoke alarms 

 150.17 Minimum standards for carbon monoxide alarms  

 150.18 Minimum standards for swimming pools, spas and hot tubs  

 150.19 Responsibilities of owners and occupants 

 150.20 Duties and powers of Building Inspector 

 150.21 Inspections; duty of owners and occupants 

 150.22 Procedure for Violations 

 150.23 Penalty 

 

HOUSING CODE 

§ 150.01 FINDINGS; PURPOSE. 

 Pursuant to G.S. § 160A-441, it is hereby found and declared that there exist in the 

county dwellings which are unfit for human habitation due to dilapidation, defects increasing the 

hazards of fire, accidents and other calamities, lack of ventilation, light and sanitary facilities and 

due to other conditions rendering the dwellings unsafe or unsanitary and dangerous and 

detrimental to the health, safety and morals and otherwise inimical to the welfare of the residents 

of the county.  It is further found by the County Board of Commissioners that there exist in the 

county abandoned structures which constitute a health and safety hazard as a result of the 

attraction of insects and rodents or which results in a condition creating a fire hazard or which 

bring about dangerous conditions constituting a threat to children or which bring about frequent 

use by vagrants as living quarters in the absence of sanitary facilities.  In order to protect the 

health, safety and welfare of the residents of the county, as authorized by G.S. §§ 160A-360 et 

seq., it is the purpose of this subchapter to establish minimum standards of fitness for the initial 

and continued occupancy of all dwellings used for habitation and for the continued existence of 

abandoned structures as expressly authorized by G.S. § 160A-444. 

 The County shall abide by and enforce construction and renovation codes and standards, 

in accordance with the current North Carolina Building Codes with amendments and North 

Carolina adopted National Electric Code with NC Amendments as scheduled and identified by 

the NC Department of Insurance.  Permits shall be issued pursuant to GS 153A-357. The 

County shall also abide by and enforce the current North Carolina General Statutes with 

Amendments. 

 

§ 150.02 DEFINITIONS. 

 For the purpose of this subchapter, the following definitions shall apply unless the 

context clearly indicates or requires a different meaning.  Unless otherwise noted herein 

definitions shall conform to the North Carolina Building and Electrical Codes. 

 CELLAR.  A portion of a building located partly or wholly underground, having an 

adequate access to light and air from windows located partly or wholly below the level of the 

adjoining ground. 

 DETERIORATED.  A dwelling that is unfit for human habitation and can be repaired, 

altered or improved to comply with all of the minimum standards established by this subchapter, 

at a cost not in excess of 50% of its value, as determined by finding of the Inspector. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 3 

 DWELLING.  Any building which is wholly or partly used or intended to be used for 

living or sleeping by human occupants; provided that temporary housing as hereinafter defined 

shall not be regarded as a dwelling. The word DWELLING, wherever used herein, shall also be 

construed to mean any structure which has not been occupied by the owner or the owner's tenant 

for a period of 90 consecutive days. 

 DWELLING UNIT.  Any room or group of rooms located within a dwelling and 

forming a single habitable unit with facilities which are used or intended to be used for living, 

sleeping, cooking and eating. 

 EXTERMINATION.  The control and elimination of insects, rodents or other pests by 

eliminating their harborage places; by removing or making inaccessible materials that may serve 

as their food; by poisoning, spraying, fumigating, trapping or by any other recognized and legal 

pest elimination methods approved by the Inspector. 

 GARBAGE.  The animal and vegetable waste resulting from the handling, preparation, 

cooking and consumption of food. 

 HABITABLE ROOM.  Habitable rooms shall have a floor area of not less than 70 

square feet. Exception: Kitchens.  

Habitable rooms shall be not less than 7 feet in any horizontal dimension. Exception: Kitchens. 

Height effect on room area. Portions of a room with a sloping ceiling measuring less than 5 feet 

or a furred ceiling measuring less than 7 feet from the finished floor to the finished ceiling shall 

not be considered as contributing to the minimum required habitable area for that room. 

 HABITABLE SPACE.  Space in a building for living, sleeping, eating or cooking.  

Bathrooms, toilet rooms, closets, halls, storage or utility spaces and similar areas are not 

considered habitable spaces. 

 INFESTATION.  The presence, within or around a dwelling, of any insects, rodents or 

other pests in a number as to constitute a menace to the health, safety or welfare of the occupant 

or to the public. 

 INSPECTOR.  The Building Inspector of the county or any agent of the Inspector who 

is authorized by the Inspector. 

 MULTIPLE DWELLING.  Any dwelling containing more than two dwelling units. 

 OCCUPANT.  Any person over one year of age, living, sleeping, cooking or eating in, 

or having actual possession of a dwelling unit or rooming unit. 

 OPERATOR.  Any person who has charge, care or control of a building, or part thereof, 

in which dwelling units or rooming units are let. 

 OWNER. 

  (1) Any person who, alone, jointly or severally with others: 

   (a) Shall have title to any dwelling unit, with or without 

accompanying actual possession thereof; or 

   (b) Shall have charge, care or control of any dwelling or dwelling unit 

as owner or agent of the owner or as executor, executrix, administrator, administratrix, trustee or 

guardian of the estate of the owner. 

  (2) Any person thus representing the actual owner shall be bound to comply 

with the provisions of this subchapter, and of rules and regulations adopted pursuant thereto, to 

the same extent as if he or she were the owner. 

 PUBLIC AUTHORITY.  The County Department of Social Services, the County 

Building Inspector or any officer who is in charge of any department or branch of the 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 4 

government of the county or the state relating to health, fire, building regulations or other 

activities concerning dwellings in the county. 

 ROOMING HOUSE.  Any dwelling, or that part of any dwelling containing one or 

more rooming units, in which space is let by the owner or operator to three or more persons who 

are not husband and wife, son or daughter, mother or father or sister or brother of the owner or 

operator. 

 ROOMING UNIT.  Any room or group of rooms forming a single habitable unit used or 

intended to be used for living and sleeping, but not for cooking or eating purposes. 

 RUBBISH.  Combustible and noncombustible waste materials, except garbage and 

ashes, and the term shall include paper, rags, cartons, boxes, wood excelsior, rubber, leather, tree 

branches, yard trimmings, tin cans, metals, mineral matter, glass crockery and dust. 

 SUPPLIED.  Paid for, furnished or provided by, or under the control of, the owner or 

operator. 

 TEMPORARY HOUSING.  Any tent, trailer or other structure used for human shelter 

which is designed to be transportable and which is not attached to the ground, to another 

structure, or to any utilities system on the same premises for more than 30 consecutive days. 

 UNFIT FOR HUMAN HABITATION.  Conditions that exist in a dwelling which 

violate or do not comply with one or more of the minimum standards of fitness or one or more of 

the requirements established by this subchapter. 

§ 150.03 MINIMUM STANDARDS OF FITNESS FOR DWELLINGS AND DWELLING 

UNITS. 

 Every dwelling and dwelling unit used as human habitation or held out for use as a 

human habitation shall comply with all of the minimum standards of fitness for human habitation 

and all of the requirements of this subchapter.  No person shall occupy, as owner-occupant, or 

let to another for occupancy or use as a human habitation, any dwelling or dwelling unit which 

does not comply with all of the minimum standards of fitness for human habitation and all of the 

requirements of this subchapter. 

§ 150.04 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR STRUCTURAL CONDITION. 

 (A) Walls or partitions or supporting members, sills, joists, rafters or other structural 

members shall not list, lean or buckle, and shall not be rotted, deteriorated or damaged, and shall 

not have holes or cracks which might admit rodents. 

 (B) Floors or roofs shall have adequate supporting members and strength to be 

reasonably safe for the purpose used. 

 (C) Foundations, foundation walls, piers or other foundation supports shall not be 

deteriorated or damaged. 

 (D) Steps, stairs, landings, porches or other parts or appurtenances shall be maintained 

in a condition that they will not fall or collapse. 

 (E) Adequate facilities, as defined by the North Carolina building codes, for egress in 

case of fire or panic shall be provided. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 5 

 (F) Interior walls and ceilings of all rooms, closets and hallways shall be finished of 

suitable materials, which will, by use of reasonable household methods promote sanitation and 

cleanliness, and shall be maintained in a manner so as to enable the occupants to maintain 

reasonable privacy between various spaces. 

 (G) The roof, flashings, exterior walls, basement walls, floor and all doors and 

windows exposed to the weather shall be constructed and maintained so as to be weather and 

watertight. 

 (H) There shall be no chimneys or parts thereof which are defective, deteriorated or in 

danger of falling or in a condition or location as to constitute a fire hazard. 

 (I) There shall be no use of the ground for floors or wood floors on the ground. 

§ 150.05 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR SAFE AND SANITARY MAINTENANCE. 

 (A) (1) Every foundation wall, exterior wall and exterior roof shall be 

substantially weather-tight and rodent proof shall be kept in sound condition and good repair; 

shall be capable of affording privacy and shall be safe to use and capable of supporting the load 

which normal use may cause to be placed thereon.  Annular spaces around pipes, electric cables, 

conduits 

or other openings in the walls shall be protected against the passage of rodents by closing such 

opening with cement mortar, concrete masonry, silicone caulking or noncorrosive metal. 

  (2) Every exterior wall shall be protected with paint or other protective 

covering to prevent the entrance or penetration of moisture or the weather. 

 (B) Every floor, interior wall and ceiling shall be substantially rodent proof shall be 

kept in sound condition and good repair and shall be safe to use and capable of supporting the 

load which normal use may cause to be placed thereon. 

 (C) Every window, exterior door, basement or cellar door and hatchway shall be 

substantially weather-tight, watertight and rodent proof and shall be kept in sound working 

condition and good repair. 

 (D) Every inside and outside stair, porch and any appurtenance thereto shall be safe to 

use and capable of supporting the load that normal use may cause to be placed thereon and shall 

be kept in sound condition and good repair. 

 (E) Every bathroom floor surface and water closet compartment floor surface shall be 

constructed and maintained so as to be reasonably impervious to water and so as to permit the 

floor to be easily kept in a clean and sanitary condition. 

 (F) Every supplied facility, piece of equipment or utility which is required under this 

subchapter shall be so constructed or installed that it will function safely and effectively and 

shall be maintained in satisfactory working condition. 

 (G) Every yard shall be properly graded so as to obtain thorough drainage and so as to 

prevent the accumulation of stagnant water. 

 (H) Every dwelling unit shall be provided with adequate means of egress as required 

by the North Carolina Building Codes. 

§ 150.06 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR CONTROL OF INSECTS, RODENTS AND 

INFESTATIONS. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 6 

 (A) In every dwelling unit, for protection against mosquitoes, flies and other insects, 

every window or other device with openings to outdoor space, used or intended to be used for 

ventilation shall be supplied with screens installed. 

 (B) Every basement or cellar window used or intended to be used for ventilation and 

every other opening to a basement which might provide an entry for rodents shall be supplied 

with screens installed or other approved device as will effectively prevent their entrance. 

 (C) Every occupant of a dwelling containing a single dwelling unit shall be 

responsible for the extermination of any insects, rodents or other pests therein or on the premises; 

and every occupant of a dwelling unit in a dwelling containing more than one dwelling unit shall 

be responsible for the extermination whenever his or her dwelling unit is the only one infested.  

Whenever infestation is caused by failure of the owner to maintain a dwelling in a rodent proof 

or reasonable insect proof conditions, extermination shall be the responsibility of the owner.  

Whenever infestation exists in two or more dwelling units in a dwelling or in the shared or public 

parts of any dwelling containing two or more dwelling units, extermination shall be the 

responsibility of the owner. 

§ 150.07 MINIMUM STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO ROOMING HOUSES; 

EXCEPTIONS. 

 All of the provisions of this subchapter and all of the minimum standards and 

requirements of this subchapter shall be applicable to rooming houses, and to every person who 

operates a rooming house or who occupies or lets to another for occupancy any rooming unit in 

any rooming house, except as provided in the following provisions. 

 (A) (1) At least one water closet, lavatory basin and bathtub or shower, properly 

connected to an approved water and sewer system and in good working condition, shall be 

supplied for each four rooms within a rooming house whenever the facilities are shared. 

  (2) All facilities shall be located within the residence building served and 

shall be directly accessible from a common hall or passageway and shall be not more than one 

story removed from any of the persons sharing the facilities.  Every lavatory basin and bathtub 

or shower shall be supplied with hot and cold water at all times. 

  (3) The required facilities shall not be located in a cellar. 

 (B) Every room occupied for sleeping purposes by one occupant shall contain at least 

70 square feet of floor area, and every room occupied for sleeping purposes by more than one 

occupant shall contain at least 50 square feet of floor area for each occupant 12 years of age and 

over and at least 35 square feet of floor area for each occupant under 12 years of age. 

 (C) The operator of every rooming house shall be responsible for the sanitary 

maintenance of all walls, floors, ceilings and for the sanitary maintenance of every other part of 

the rooming house and he or she shall be further responsible for the sanitary maintenance of the 

entire premises where the entire structure or building within which the rooming house is 

contained is leased or occupied by the operator. 

 (D) Every water closet, flush urinal, lavatory basin and bathtub and shower required 

by division (A) above shall be located within the rooming house and within a room or rooms 

which afford privacy and are separate from habitable rooms, and which are accessible from a 

common hall and without going outside the rooming house or through any other room therein. 

 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 7 

§ 150.08 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR FIRE RESISTANT CONSTRUCTION 

 

 (A) Two-family dwellings. Dwelling units in two-family dwellings shall be separated 

from each other by wall and floor assemblies having not less than a 1-hour fire-resistance rating 

where tested in accordance with ASTM E119 or UL 263. Fire-resistance-rated floor/ceiling and 

wall assemblies shall extend to and be tight against the exterior wall, and wall assemblies shall 

extend from the foundation to the underside of the roof sheathing. 

  Exceptions: 

   (1) A fire-resistance rating of 1/2 hour shall be permitted in buildings 

equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with NFPA 13. 

   (2) Wall assemblies need not extend through attic spaces where the 

ceiling is protected by not less than 5/8-inch Type X gypsum board, an attic draft stop 

constructed as specified in the NC building code is provided above and along the wall assembly 

separating the dwellings and the structural framing supporting the ceiling is protected by not less 

than 1/2-inch gypsum board or equivalent. 

  (1) Supporting construction. Where floor assemblies are required to be fire-

resistance rated by the NC building code the supporting construction of such assemblies shall 

have an equal or greater fire-resistance rating. 

  (2) Dwelling unit rated penetrations. Penetrations of wall or floor-ceiling 

assemblies required to be fire-resistance rated shall be rated and protected in accordance with the 

NC building code. 

  (3) Through penetrations. Through penetrations of fire-resistance-rated wall 

or floor assemblies shall comply with the NC building code. 

   Exception: Where the penetrating items are steel, ferrous or copper pipes, 

tubes or conduits, the annular space shall be protected as follows: 

    (1) In concrete or masonry wall or floor assemblies, concrete, 

grout or mortar shall be permitted where installed to the full thickness of the wall or floor 

assembly or the thickness required to maintain the fire-resistance rating, provided that both of the 

following are complied with: 

     (1.1) The nominal diameter of the penetrating item is not 

more than 6 inches 

     (1.2) The area of the opening through the wall does not 

exceed 144 square inches 

    (2) The material used to fill the annular space shall prevent the 

passage of flame and hot gases sufficient to ignite cotton waste where subjected to ASTM E119 

or UL 263 time temperature fire conditions under a positive pressure differential of not less than 

0.01 inch of water (3 Pa) at the location of the penetration for the time period equivalent to the 

fire-resistance rating of the construction penetrated. 

  (4) Fire-resistance-rated assembly. Penetrations shall be installed as tested 

in the approved fire resistance-rated assembly. 

  (5) Penetration firestop system. Penetrations shall be protected by an 

approved penetration firestop system installed as tested in accordance with ASTM E814 or UL 

1479, with a positive pressure differential of not less than 0.01 inch of water (3 Pa) and shall 

have 

a F rating of not less than the required fire-resistance rating of the wall or floor-ceiling assembly 

penetrated. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 8 

  (6) Membrane penetrations. Membrane penetrations shall comply with this 

section. Where walls are required to have a fire-resistance rating, recessed fixtures shall be 

installed so that the required fire-resistance rating will not be reduced. 

   Exceptions: 

    (1) Membrane penetrations of not more than 2-hour fire-

resistance-rated walls and partitions by steel electrical boxes that do not exceed 16 square inches 

in area provided that the aggregate area of the openings through the membrane does not exceed 

100 square inches in any 100 square feet of wall area. The annular space between the wall 

membrane and the box shall not exceed 1/8 inch Such boxes on opposite sides of the wall shall 

be separated by one of the following: 

     (1.1) By a horizontal distance of not less than 24 inches 

where the wall or partition is constructed with individual non communicating stud cavities. 

     (1.2) By a horizontal distance of not less than the depth 

of the wall cavity where the wall cavity is filled with cellulose loose-fill, rockwool or slag 

mineral wool insulation. 

     (1.3) By solid fire blocking in accordance with NC 

Building code. 

     (1.4) By protecting both boxes with listed putty pads. 

     (1.5) By other listed materials and methods. 

    (2) Membrane penetrations by listed electrical boxes of any 

materials provided that the boxes have been tested for use in fire-resistance-rated assemblies and 

are installed in accordance with the instructions included in the listing. The annular space 

between the wall membrane and the box shall not exceed 1/8 inch unless listed otherwise. Such 

boxes on opposite sides of the wall shall be separated by one of the following: 

     (2.1) By the horizontal distance specified in the listing of 

the electrical boxes. 

     (2.2) By solid fire blocking in accordance with the NC 

Building code. 

     (2.3) By protecting both boxes with listed putty pads. 

     (2.4) By other listed materials and methods. 

    (3) The annular space created by the penetration of a fire 

sprinkler provided that it is covered by a metal escutcheon plate. 

 (B) Dwelling-garage opening and penetration protection.  Openings and 

penetrations through the walls or ceilings separating the dwelling from the garage shall be in 

accordance with the following: 

  (1) Opening protection. Openings from a private garage directly into a room 

used for sleeping purposes shall not be permitted. Other openings between the garage and 

residence shall be equipped with solid wood doors not less than 1-3/8 inches in thickness, solid 

or honeycomb core steel doors not less than 1-3/8 inches thick, or 20-minute fire-rated doors. 

   Exception: A disappearing/pull-down stairway to uninhabited attic space 

with minimum 3/8-inch (nominal) fire-retardant-treated structural panel is equivalent to the 

separation requirement from attics in the NC Building code 

  (2) Duct penetration.  Ducts in the garage and ducts penetrating the walls or 

ceilings separating the dwelling from the garage shall be constructed of a minimum No. 26 gage 

sheet steel or other approved material and shall not have openings into the garage. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 9 

 (C) Dwelling-garage fire separation. The garage shall be separated as required in the 

following table. Openings in garage walls shall comply the NC Building code. The wall 

separation provisions of the table shall not apply to garage walls that are perpendicular to the 

adjacent dwelling unit wall. 

Dwelling-Garage Separation 

Separation Material 

From the residence and attics Not less than 1/2-inch gypsum board or 

equivalent applied to the garage side 

From habitable rooms above the garage 

(footnote a) 

Not less than 5/8-inch Type X gypsum board 

or equivalent 

Structure(s) supporting floor/ceiling 

assemblies used for separation required by 

this section 

Not less than 1/2-inch gypsum board or 

equivalent 

Garages located less than 3 feet from a 

dwelling unit on the same lot 

Not less than 1/2-inch gypsum board or 

equivalent applied to the interior side of 

exterior walls that are within this area 

Footnote a:  For dwelling units constructed prior to the 2012 North Carolina Residential code 

edition, 1/2-inch or greater existing gypsum board on the bottom side of the garage ceiling shall 

be acceptable .  Joints shall be taped. 

 

 (D) Under-stair protection. Enclosed accessible space under stairs shall have walls, 

under-stair surface and any soffits protected on the enclosed side with 1/2-inch gypsum board. 

 

§ 150.09 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR LIGHT, VENTILATION AND HEATING 

 

 (A) Habitable rooms. Habitable rooms shall have an aggregate glazing area of not 

less than 8 percent of the floor area of such rooms. Natural ventilation shall be through windows, 

skylights, doors, louvers or other approved openings to the outdoor air. Such openings shall be 

provided with ready access or shall otherwise be readily controllable by the building occupants. 

The openable area to the outdoors shall be not less than 4 percent of the floor area being 

ventilated. 

  Exceptions: 

   (1) The glazed areas need not be openable where the opening is not 

required by the mechanical code and a whole-house mechanical ventilation system is installed  

   (2) The glazed areas need not be installed in rooms where Exception 1 

is satisfied and artificial light is provided that is capable of producing an average illumination of 

6 foot-candles (65 lux) over the area of the room at a height of 30 inches above the floor level. 

   (3) Use of sunroom and patio covers, shall be permitted for natural 

ventilation if in excess of 40 percent of the exterior sunroom walls are open, or are enclosed only 

by insect screening. 

 (B) Adjoining rooms. For the purpose of determining light and ventilation 

requirements, any room shall be considered to be a portion of an adjoining room where not less 

than one-half of the area of the common wall is open and unobstructed and provides an opening 

of not less than one-tenth of the floor area of the interior room and not less than 25 square feet. 

  Exception:  Openings required for light or ventilation shall be permitted to open 

into a sunroom with thermal isolation or a patio cover, provided that there is an openable area 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 10 

between the adjoining room and the sunroom or patio cover of not less than one-tenth of the 

floor area of the interior room and not less than 20 square feet. The minimum openable area to 

the outdoors shall be based upon the total floor area being ventilated. 

 (C) Sunroom additions. Required glazed openings shall be permitted to open into 

sunroom additions or patio covers that abut a street, yard or court if in excess of 40 percent of 

the exterior sunroom walls are open, or are enclosed only by insect screening, and the ceiling 

height of the sunroom is not less than 7 feet. 

 (D) Bathrooms. Bathrooms, water closet compartments and other similar rooms shall 

be provided with aggregate glazing area in windows of not less than 3 square feet (0.3 m2), one 

half of which must be openable. 

  Exception:  The glazed areas shall not be required where artificial light and a 

local exhaust system are provided.  Exhaust air from the space shall be exhausted directly to the 

outdoors. 

 (E) Intake openings. Mechanical and gravity outdoor air intake openings shall be 

located not less than 10 from any hazardous or noxious contaminant, such as vents, chimneys, 

plumbing vents, streets, alleys, parking lots and loading docks. For the purpose of this section, 

the exhaust from dwelling unit toilet rooms, bathrooms and kitchens shall not be considered as 

hazardous or noxious. 

  Exception:  The 10-foot separation is not required where the intake opening is 

located 3 feet or greater below the contaminant source. 

 (F) Outside opening protection. Air exhaust and intake openings that terminate 

outdoors shall be protected with corrosion- resistant screens, louvers or grilles having an opening 

size of not less than 1/4 inch and a maximum opening size of 1/2 inch in any dimension. 

Openings shall be protected against local weather conditions. Outdoor air exhaust and intake 

openings shall meet the provisions for exterior wall opening protectives in accordance with the 

NC Building code. 

 (G) Interior stairway illumination. Interior stairways shall be provided with an 

artificial light source to illuminate the landings and treads. The light source shall be capable of 

illuminating treads and landings to levels of not less than 1 foot-candle (11 lux) as measured at 

the center of treads and landings. There shall be a wall switch at each floor level to control the 

light source where the stairway has six or more risers. 

  Exception:  A switch is not required where remote, central or automatic control 

of lighting is provided. 

 (H) Exterior stairway illumination. Exterior stairways shall be provided with an 

artificial light source located at the top landing of the stairway. Exterior stairways providing 

access to a basement from the outdoor grade level shall be provided with an artificial light 

source located at the bottom landing of the stairway. 

 (I) Required glazed openings. Required glazed openings shall open directly onto a 

street or public alley, or a yard or court located on the same lot as the building. 

  Exceptions: 

   (1) Required glazed openings that face into a roofed porch where the 

porch abuts a street, yard or court and the longer side of the porch is not less than 65 percent 

unobstructed and the ceiling height is not less than 7 feet. 

   (2) Eave projections shall not be considered as obstructing the clear 

open space of a yard or court. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 11 

   (3) Required glazed openings that face into the area under a deck, 

balcony, bay or floor cantilever where a clear vertical space not less than 36 inches in height is 

provided. 

 (J) Required heating. Every dwelling unit shall be provided with heating facilities 

capable of maintaining a room temperature of not less than 70°F at a point 3 feet above the floor 

and 2 feet from exterior walls in habitable rooms at the design temperature. The installation of 

one or more portable space heaters shall not be used to achieve compliance with this section. 

Winter design condition in Camden County 20 degrees F. 

   Exception: Unconditioned sunrooms that are thermally isolated from the 

dwelling. 

 (K) All fixtures, receptacles, equipment and wiring shall be maintained in a state of 

good repair, safe, capable of being used, and installed in accordance with the National Electric 

Code with North Carolina Amendments.  

 

§ 150.10 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR MINIMUM ROOM AREAS 

 

 (A) Minimum area. Habitable rooms shall have a floor area of not less than 70 

square feet. 

   Exception: Kitchens. 

 (B) Minimum dimensions. Habitable rooms shall be not less than 7 feet in any 

horizontal dimension. 

   Exception: Kitchens. 

 (C) Height effect on room area. Portions of a room with a sloping ceiling measuring 

less than 5 feet or a furred ceiling measuring less than 7 feet from the finished floor to the 

finished ceiling shall not be considered as contributing to the minimum required habitable area 

for that room. 

 

§ 150.11 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR CEILING HEIGHT 

 

 (A) Minimum height. Habitable space, hallways and portions of basements 

containing these spaces shall have a ceiling height of not less than 7 feet.  Bathrooms, toilet 

rooms and laundry rooms shall have a ceiling height of not less than 6 feet 8 inches. 

   Exceptions: 

    (1) For rooms with sloped ceilings, the required floor area of 

the room shall have a ceiling height of not less than 5 feet and not less than 50 percent of the 

required floor area shall have a ceiling height of not less than 7 feet. 

    (2) The ceiling height above bathroom and toilet room fixtures 

shall be such that the fixture is capable of being used for its intended purpose. A shower or tub 

equipped with a shower head shall have a ceiling height of not less than 6 feet 8 inches above an 

area of not less than 30 inches by 30 inches at the showerhead. 

    (3) Beams, girders, ducts or other obstructions in habitable 

space shall be permitted to project to within 6 feet 4 inches of the finished floor. 

 (B) Basements. Portions of basements that do not contain habitable space or 

hallways shall have a ceiling height of not less than 6 feet 8 inches. 

   Exception:  At beams, girders, ducts or other obstructions, the ceiling 

height shall be not less than 6 feet 4 inches from the finished floor. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 12 

 

§ 150.12 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR SANITATION 

 

 (A) Toilet facilities. Every dwelling unit shall be provided with a water closet, 

lavatory, and a bathtub or shower. 

 (B) Kitchen. Each dwelling unit shall be provided with a kitchen area and every 

kitchen area shall be provided with a sink. 

 (C) Sewage disposal. Plumbing fixtures shall be connected to a sanitary sewer or to 

an approved private sewage disposal system. 

 (D) Water supply to fixtures. Plumbing fixtures shall be connected to an approved 

water supply. Kitchen sinks, lavatories, bathtubs, showers, bidets, laundry tubs and washing 

machine outlets shall be provided with hot and cold water. 

 (E) Bathtub and shower spaces. Bathtub and shower floors and walls above 

bathtubs with installed shower heads and in shower compartments shall be finished with a 

nonabsorbent surface. Such wall surfaces shall extend to a height of not less than 6 feet above the 

floor. 

 

§ 150.13 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR EMERGENCY ESCAPE AND RESCUE 

OPENINGS 

 

 (A) Emergency escape and rescue opening required.  Basements, habitable attics 

and every sleeping room shall have not less than one operable emergency escape and rescue 

opening. Where basements contain one or more sleeping rooms, an emergency escape and rescue 

opening shall be required in each sleeping room. Emergency escape and rescue openings shall 

open directly into a public way, or to a yard or court that opens to a public way. 

   Exception: Storm shelters and basements used only to house mechanical 

equipment not exceeding a total floor area of 200 square feet. 

 (B) Operational constraints and opening control devices. Emergency escape and 

rescue openings shall be operational from the inside of the room without the use of keys, tools or 

special knowledge. Window opening control devices complying with ASTM F2090 shall be 

permitted for use on windows serving as a required emergency escape and rescue opening. 

 (C) Emergency escape and rescue openings. Emergency escape and rescue 

openings shall have minimum dimensions as follows: 

   (1) Minimum opening area. Emergency and escape rescue openings 

shall have a minimum net clear openable area of 4 square feet. The minimum net clear opening 

height shall be 22 inches. The minimum net clear opening width shall be 20 inches. Emergency 

escape and rescue openings must have a minimum total glazing area of not less than 5 square 

feet in the case of a ground floor level window and not less than 5.7 square feet in the case of an 

upper story window. 

   (2) Window sill height. Where a window is provided as the 

emergency escape and rescue opening, it shall have a sill height of not more than 44 inches 

above the floor; where the sill height is below grade, it shall be provided with a window well. 

   (3) Window wells. The horizontal area of the window well shall be 

not less than 9 square feet, with a horizontal projection and width of not less than 36 inches. The 

area of the window well shall allow the emergency escape and rescue opening to be fully 

opened. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 13 

     Exception: The ladder or steps required as indicated below 

shall be permitted to encroach not more than 6 inches into the required dimensions of the 

window well. 

   (4) Ladder and steps. Window wells with a vertical depth greater 

than 44 inches shall be equipped with a permanently affixed ladder or steps usable with the 

window in the fully open position. Ladders or steps required by this section shall not be required 

to comply with other sections regarding ladders and steps.  Ladders or rungs shall have an inside 

width of not less than 12 inches, shall project not less than 3 inches from the wall and shall be 

spaced not more than 18 inches on center vertically for the full height of the window well. 

   (5) Emergency escape and rescue openings under decks and 

porches. Emergency escape and rescue openings shall be permitted to be installed under decks 

and porches provided that the location of the deck allows the emergency escape and rescue 

openings to be fully opened and provides a path not less than 36 inches in height to a yard or 

court. 

   (6) Replacement windows. Replacement windows installed in 

buildings meeting the scope of this code shall be exempt from the maximum sill height 

requirements provided the replacement window meets the following conditions: 

    (a) The replacement window is the manufacturer’s largest 

standard size window that will fit within the existing frame or existing rough opening. The 

replacement window is of the same operating style as the existing window or a style that 

provides for an equal or greater window opening area than the existing window. 

    (b) The replacement window is not part of a change of 

occupancy. 

 (D) Emergency escape and rescue doors. Where a door is provided as the required 

emergency escape and rescue opening, it shall be permitted to be a side-hinged door or a slider. 

Where the opening is below the adjacent ground elevation, it shall be provided with a bulkhead 

enclosure. 

  (1) Minimum door opening size. The minimum net clear height opening for 

any door that serves as an emergency and escape rescue opening shall be in accordance with 

opening sizes above. 

  (2) Bulkhead enclosures. Bulkhead enclosures shall provide direct access 

from the basement. The bulkhead enclosure shall provide the minimum net clear opening equal 

to the door in the fully open position. 

  (3) Bars, grilles, covers and screens. Bars, grilles, covers, screens or similar 

devices are permitted to be placed over emergency escape and rescue openings, bulkhead 

enclosures, or window wells that serve such openings, provided that the minimum net clear 

opening size is not reduced and such devices shall be releasable or removable from the inside 

without the use of a key, tool, special knowledge or force greater than that required for the 

normal operation of the escape and rescue opening. 

 (E) Dwelling additions. Where dwelling additions occur that contain sleeping rooms, 

an emergency escape and rescue opening shall be provided in each new sleeping room. Where 

dwelling additions occur that have basements, an emergency escape and rescue opening shall be 

provided in the new basement. 

   Exceptions: 
    (1) An emergency escape and rescue opening is not required in 

a new basement that contains a sleeping room with an emergency escape and rescue opening. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 14 

    (2) An emergency escape and rescue opening is not required in 

a new basement where there is an emergency escape and rescue opening in an existing basement 

that is accessible from the new basement. 

 (F) Alterations or repairs of existing basements. An emergency escape and rescue 

opening is not required where existing basements undergo alterations or repairs. 

   Exception: New sleeping rooms created in an existing basement shall be 

provided with emergency escape and rescue openings. 

 

§ 150.14 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR MEANS OF EGRESS 

 

 (A) Means of egress. All dwellings shall be provided with a means of egress as 

provided in this section. The means of egress shall provide a continuous and unobstructed path of 

vertical and horizontal egress travel from all portions of the dwelling to the exterior of the 

dwelling at the required exterior egress door without requiring travel through a garage. 

 (B) Egress door. Not less than one exterior egress door shall be provided for each 

dwelling unit. The egress door shall be side-hinged, and shall provide a clear width of not less 

than 32 inches where measured between the face of the door and the stop, with the door open 90 

degrees.  The clear height of the door opening shall be not less than 78 inches in height 

measured from the top of the threshold to the bottom of the stop. Other exterior doors shall not 

be required to comply with these minimum dimensions. Egress doors shall be readily openable 

from inside the dwelling without the use of a key or special knowledge or effort. 

 (C) Floors and landings at exterior doors. There shall be a landing or floor on each 

side of each exterior door. The width of each landing shall be not less than the door served. 

Every landing shall have a dimension of not less than 36 inches measured in the direction of 

travel. The 

slope at exterior landings shall not exceed 1/4 unit vertical in 12 units horizontal (2 percent). 

   Exception:  Exterior balconies less than 60 square feet and only 

accessible from a door are permitted to have a landing less than 36 inches measured in the 

direction of travel. 

  (1) Floor elevations at the required egress doors. Landings or finished 

floors at the required egress door shall be not more than 1-1/2 inches lower than the top of the 

threshold. 

    Exception: The exterior landing or floor shall be not more than 8-

1/4 inches below the top of the threshold provided the door does not swing over the landing or 

floor. Where exterior landings or floors serving the required egress door are not at grade, they 

shall be provided with access to grade by means of a ramp or a stairway. 

  (2) Floor elevations for other exterior doors. Doors other than the required 

egress door shall be provided with landings or floors not more than 8-1/4 inches below the top of 

the threshold. 

    Exception:  A landing is not required where a stairway is located 

on the exterior side of the door, provided that the door does not swing over the stairway. 

  (3) Storm and screen doors. Storm and screen doors shall be permitted to 

swing over exterior stairs and landings. 

 (D) Hallways. The width of a hallway shall be not less than 3 feet measured from the 

finished surface of the walls. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 15 

  (1) Interior egress doors. All doors providing egress from habitable rooms 

shall have nominal dimensions of 2 feet 6 inches width by 6 feet 8 inches height. Interior egress 

doors shall be readily openable from the side from which egress is to be made without the use of 

a key or special knowledge or effort. 

 (E) Stairways. 

  (1) Width. Stairways shall be not less than 36 inches in clear width at all 

points above the permitted handrail height and below the required headroom height. Handrails 

shall not project more than 4-1/2 inches on either side of the stairway and the clear width of the 

stairway at and below the handrail height, including treads and landings, shall be not less than 

31-1/2 inches where a handrail is installed on one side and 27 inches where handrails are 

provided on both sides. 

    Exceptions: 

     (1) The width of spiral stairways 

     (2) Stairways not required for egress shall be permitted 

to be a minimum width of 26 inches. 

  (2) Headroom. The headroom in stairways shall be not less than 6 feet 8 

inches measured vertically from the sloped line adjoining the tread nosing or from the floor surface of 

the landing or platform on that portion of the stairway. 

    Exceptions: 

     (1) Where the nosings of treads at the side of a flight 

extend under the edge of a floor opening through which the stair passes, the floor opening shall 

be allowed to project horizontally into the required headroom not more than 4-3/4 inches. 

     (2) The headroom for spiral stairways. 

  (3) Vertical rise. A flight of stairs shall not have a vertical rise larger than 

147 inches between floor levels or landings. 

  (4) Stair treads and risers. Stair treads and risers shall meet the requirements 

of this section. For the purposes of this section, dimensions and dimensioned surfaces shall be 

exclusive of carpets, rugs or runners. 

   (a) Risers.  The riser height shall be not more than 8-1/4 inches. The 

riser shall be measured vertically between leading edges of the adjacent treads. The greatest riser 

height within any flight of stairs shall not exceed the smallest by more than 3/8 inch. The top and 

bottom riser of interior stairs shall not exceed the smallest riser within that stair run by more than 

3/4 inch. The height of the top and bottom riser of the interior stairs shall be measured from the 

permanent finished surface (carpet excluded). Where the bottom riser of an exterior stair adjoins 

an exterior walk, porch, driveway, patio, garage floor, or finish grade, the height of the riser may 

be less than the height of the adjacent risers. 

   (b) Treads.  The minimum tread depth shall be not less than 9 inches.  

The tread depth shall be measured horizontally between the vertical planes of the foremost 

projection of adjacent treads and at a right angle to the tread’s leading edge. The greatest tread 

depth within any flight of stairs shall not exceed the smallest by more than 3/8 inch. 

    (1) Winder treads. Winder treads shall have a tread depth of 

not less than 9 inches measured between the vertical planes of the foremost projection of 

adjacent treads at the intersections with the walkline. Winder treads shall have a tread depth of 

not less than 4 inches at any point within the clear width of the stair. Within any flight of stairs, 

the largest winder tread depth at the walkline shall not exceed the smallest winder tread by more 

than 3/8 inch. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 16 

   (c) Nosings. The radius of curvature at the nosing shall be not greater 

than 9/16 inch.  A nosing projection not less than 3/4 inch and not more than 1-1/4 inches shall 

be provided on stairways with solid risers. The greatest nosing projection shall not exceed the 

smallest nosing projection by more than 3/8 inch between two stories, including the nosing at the 

level of floors and landings. Beveling of nosings shall not exceed 1/2 inch. 

     Exceptions: 

      (1) A nosing projection is not required where 

the tread depth is not less than 11 inches. 

      (2) The opening between adjacent treads is not 

limited on stairs with a total rise of 30 inches or less. 

   (d) Exterior plastic composite stair treads. Plastic composite 

exterior stair treads shall comply with the provisions of this section and the requirements of 

ASTM D7032. 

  (5) Landings for stairways. There shall be a floor or landing at the top and 

bottom of each stairway. A flight of stairs shall not have a vertical rise larger than 12 feet 3 

inches between floor levels or landings. The width of each landing shall not be less than the 

width of the stairway served. Every landing shall have a minimum dimension of 36 inches (914 

mm) measured in the direction of travel. 

    Exception:  A floor or landing is not required at the top of an 

interior flight of stairs, including stairs in an enclosed garage, provided that a door does not 

swing over the stairs. 

  (6) Stairway walking surface. The walking surface of treads and landings of 

stairways shall be sloped not steeper than one unit vertical in 48 inches horizontal (2-percent 

slope). 

  (7) Handrails. Handrails shall be provided on not less than one side of each 

continuous run of treads or flight with four or more risers. 

   (a) Height. Handrail height, measured vertically from the sloped plane 

adjoining the tread nosing, or finish surface of ramp slope, shall be not less than 34 inches and 

not more than 38 inches. 

     Exceptions: 

      (1) The use of a volute, turnout or starting 

easing shall be allowed over the lowest tread. 

      (2) Where handrail fittings or bendings are used 

to provide continuous transition between flights, transitions at winder treads, the transition from 

handrail to guard, or used at the start of a flight, the handrail height at the fittings or bendings 

shall be permitted to exceed 38 inches. 

   (b) Continuity. Handrails for stairways shall be continuous for the full 

length of the flight, from a point directly above the top riser of the flight to a point directly above 

the lowest riser of the flight. Handrail ends shall be returned or shall terminate in newel posts or 

safety terminals. Handrails adjacent to a wall shall have a space of not less than 1-1/2 inches 

between the wall and the handrails. 

     Exceptions: 

      (1) Handrails shall be permitted to be 

interrupted by a newel post at the turn. 

      (2) The use of a volute, turnout, starting easing 

or starting newel shall be allowed over the lowest tread. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 17 

      (3) Two or more separate rails shall be 

considered continuous if the termination of the rails occurs within 6 inches of each other. If 

transitioning between a wall-mounted handrail and a guardrail/handrail, the wall-mounted rail 

shall return into the wall. 

   (c) Grip-size. Required handrails shall be of one of the following 

types or provide equivalent graspability: 

    (1) Type I. Handrails with a circular cross section shall have an 

outside diameter of not less than 1-1/4 inches and not greater than 2 inches.  If the handrail is 

not circular, it shall have a perimeter dimension of not less than 4 inches and not greater than 6-

1/4 inches with a cross section of dimension of not more than 2-1/4 inches.  Edges shall have a 

radius of not less than 0.01 inch. 

    (2) Type II. Handrails with a perimeter greater than 6-1/4 

inches shall have a graspable finger recess area on both sides of the profile. The finger recess 

shall begin within a distance of 3/4 inch measured vertically from the tallest portion of the profile 

and achieve a depth of not less than 5/16 inch within 7/8 inch below the widest portion of the 

profile. This required depth shall continue for not less than 3/8 inch to a level that is not less than 

1-3/4 inches below the tallest portion of the profile. The width of the handrail above the recess 

shall be not less than 1-1/4 inches and not more than 2-3/4 inches.  Edges shall have a radius of 

not less than 0.01 inch. 

      Exception: Exterior handrails (garages and areas 

exposed to the weather) shall not be more than 3-1/2 inches in cross-section dimension. 

   (d) Exterior plastic composite handrails. Plastic composite exterior 

handrails shall comply with the requirements of ASTM D7032. 

 (F) Special Stairways 

  (1) Spiral stairways. Spiral stairways are permitted, provided that the clear 

width at and below the handrail is not less than 26 inches and the walkline radius is not greater 

than 24-1/2 inches. Each tread shall have a depth of not less than 6-3/4 inches at the walkline. All 

treads shall be identical, and the rise shall be not more than 9-1/2 inches. Headroom shall be not 

less than 6 feet 6 inches. 

  (2) Bulkhead enclosure stairways. Stairways serving bulkhead enclosures, 

not part of the required building egress, providing access from the outside grade level to the 

basement shall be exempt from the requirements where the height from the basement finished 

floor level to grade adjacent to the stairway is not more than 8 feet and the grade level opening 

to the stairway is covered by a bulkhead enclosure with hinged doors or other approved means. 

  (3) Bowed tread stairways. Bowed tread stairways are permitted provided 

they are uniform in bowed tread depth along the entire width of the tread with not more than 3/8-

inch variance from greatest to smallest tread in the stairway flight. At no point shall the tread be 

less than 9 inches with a nosing as above 

   (a) Standard stairway application. The bottom three treads in a 

standard straight run stairway application are permitted to bow provided that, at no point along 

the width of the tread, they are less than 9 inches and each bowed tread is uniform with other 

bowed treads with no more than 3/8 inch variance from greatest to least. Nosing is required. 

   (b) Bowed tread circular stairways. Bowed treads in a circular 

stairway are permitted provided they are uniform, as per winder treads measured at a point 12 

inches from the side where the treads are narrower. At this walk line, bowed treads must be 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 18 

uniform with other circular stairway treads with the greatest tread not to exceed the smallest by 

more than 3/8 inch. Nosing is required. 

   (c) Ships ladders. Ships ladders shall not be used as an element of a 

means of egress. Ships ladders shall be permitted provided that a required means of egress 

stairway or ramp serves the same space at each adjoining level or where a means of egress is not 

required. The clear width at and below the handrails shall be not less than 20 inches. 

    (1) Treads of ships ladders. Treads shall have a depth of not 

less than 5 inches. The tread shall be projected such that the total of the tread depth plus the 

nosing projection is not less than 8-1/2 inches. The riser height shall be not more than 9-1/2 

inches. 

    (2) Handrails of ships ladders. Handrails shall be provided on 

both sides of ships ladders. Handrail height shall be uniform, not less than 30 inches and not 

more than 34 inches. 

 (G) Ramps. 

  (1) Maximum slope. Ramps serving the egress door shall have a slope of not 

more than 1 unit vertical in 12 units horizontal (8.3-percent slope). All other ramps shall have a 

maximum slope of 1 unit vertical in 8 units horizontal (12.5 percent). 

    Exception: Where it is technically infeasible to comply because of 

site constraints, ramps shall have a slope of not more than 1 unit vertical in 8 units horizontal 

(12.5 percent). 

  (2) Landings required. There shall be a floor or landing at the top and 

bottom of each ramp, where doors open onto ramps, and where ramps change directions. The 

width of the landing perpendicular to the ramp slope shall be not less than 36 inches. 

  (3) Handrails required. Handrails shall be provided on not less than one side 

of ramps exceeding a slope of one unit vertical in 12 units horizontal (8.33-percent slope). 

   (a) Height. Handrail height, measured above the finished surface of 

the ramp slope, shall be not less than 34 inches and not more than 38 inches. 

   (b) Continuity. Handrails where required on ramps shall be 

continuous for the full length of the ramp. Handrail ends shall be returned or shall terminate in 

newel posts or safety terminals. Handrails adjacent to a wall shall have a space of not less than 1-

1/2 inches between the wall and the handrails. 

 

§ 150.15 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR GUARDS AND WINDOW FALL 

PROTECTION 

 

 (A) Guards. Guards shall be provided as required. 

  (1) Where required. Guards shall be located along open-sided walking 

surfaces, including stairs, ramps and landings, that are located more than 30 inches measured 

vertically to the floor or grade below at any point within 36 inches horizontally to the edge of the 

open side. Insect screening shall not be considered as a guard. 

  (2) Height. Required guards at open-sided walking surfaces, including stairs, 

porches, balconies or landings, shall be not less than 36 inches in height as measured vertically 

above the adjacent walking surface or the line connecting the leading edges of the treads. 

    Exceptions: 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 19 

     (1) Guards on the open sides of stairs shall have a 

height not less than 34 inches measured vertically from a line connecting the leading edges of the 

treads. 

     (2) Where the top of the guard serves as a handrail on 

the open sides of stairs, the top of the guard shall be not less than 34 inches and not more than 38 

inches as measured vertically from a line connecting the leading edges of the treads. 

  (3) Opening limitations. Required guards shall not have openings from the 

walking surface to the required guard height that allow passage of a sphere 4 in diameter. 

    Exceptions: 

     (1) The triangular openings at the open side of stair, 

formed by the riser, tread and bottom rail of a guard, shall not allow passage of a sphere 6 inches 

in diameter. 

     (2) Guards on the open side of stairs shall not have 

openings that allow passage of a sphere 4-3/8 inches in diameter. 

 

§ 150.16 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR SMOKE ALARMS 

 

 (A) General. Smoke alarms shall comply with NFPA 72 and this section. 

 (B) Listings. Smoke alarms shall be listed in accordance with UL 217. Combination 

smoke and carbon monoxide alarms shall be listed in accordance with UL 217 and UL 2034. 

 (C) Where required. Smoke alarms shall be provided in accordance with this 

section. 

  (1) New construction. Smoke alarms shall be provided in dwelling units. 

  (2) Alterations, repairs and additions. Where alterations, repairs or 

additions requiring a building permit occur, or where one or more sleeping rooms are added or 

created in existing dwellings, the individual dwelling unit shall be equipped with smoke alarms 

located as required for new dwellings. 

    Exceptions: 

     (1) Work involving the exterior surfaces of dwellings, 

such as the replacement of roofing or siding, the addition or replacement of windows or doors, or 

the addition of a porch or deck, are exempt from the requirements of this section. 

     (2) Installation, alteration or repairs of plumbing or 

mechanical systems are exempt from the requirements of this section. 

 (D) Location. Smoke alarms shall be installed in the following locations: 

  (1) In each sleeping room. 

  (2) Outside each separate sleeping area in the immediate vicinity of the 

bedrooms. 

  (3) On each additional story of the dwelling, including basements and 

habitable attics and not including crawl spaces and uninhabitable attics. In dwellings or dwelling 

units with split levels and without an intervening door between the adjacent levels, a smoke 

alarm installed on the upper level shall suffice for the adjacent lower level provided that the 

lower level is less than one full story below the upper level. 

  (4) Smoke alarms shall be installed not less than 3 feet horizontally from the 

door or opening of a bathroom that contains a bathtub or shower unless this would prevent 

placement of a smoke alarm required in another section. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 20 

 (E) Installation near cooking appliances. Smoke alarms shall not be installed in the 

following locations unless this would prevent placement of a smoke alarm in a location required 

in another section 

  (1) Ionization smoke alarms shall not be installed less than 20 feet 

horizontally from a permanently installed cooking appliance. 

  (2) Ionization smoke alarms with an alarm-silencing switch shall not be 

installed less than 10 feet horizontally from a permanently installed cooking appliance. 

  (3) Photoelectric smoke alarms shall not be installed less than 6 feet 

horizontally from a permanently installed cooking appliance. 

 (F) Interconnection. Where more than one smoke alarm is required to be installed 

within an individual dwelling unit, the alarm devices shall be interconnected in such a manner 

that the actuation of one alarm will activate all of the alarms in the individual dwelling unit. 

Physical interconnection of smoke alarms shall not be required where listed wireless alarms are 

installed and all alarms sound upon activation of one alarm. 

   Exception: Interconnection of smoke alarms in existing areas shall not be 

required where alterations or repairs do not result in removal of interior wall or ceiling finishes 

exposing the structure.  

 (G) Combination alarms. Combination smoke and carbon monoxide alarms shall be 

permitted to be used in lieu of smoke alarms. 

 (H) Power source. Smoke alarms shall receive their primary power from the building 

wiring where such wiring is served from a commercial source and, where primary power is 

interrupted, shall receive power from a battery. Wiring shall be permanent and without a 

disconnecting switch other than those required for overcurrent protection. 

   Exceptions: 

    1.  Smoke alarms shall be permitted to be battery operated where 

installed in buildings without commercial power. 

    2. Smoke alarms installed in accordance with code section titled 

"Alterations, repairs and additions" shall be permitted to be battery powered. 

 (I) Fire alarm systems. Fire alarm systems shall be permitted to be used in lieu of 

smoke alarms and shall comply with this section. 

  (1) General. Fire alarm systems shall comply with the provisions of this code 

and the household fire warning equipment provisions of NFPA 72. Smoke detectors shall be 

listed in accordance with UL 268. 

  (2) Location. Smoke detectors shall be installed in the locations specified 

above. 

  (3) Permanent fixture. Where a household fire alarm system is installed, it 

shall become a permanent fixture of the occupancy, owned by the homeowner and carbon 

monoxide detectors shall be permitted to be installed in fire alarm systems in lieu of smoke 

detectors, provided that they are listed in accordance with UL 268 and UL 2075. 

 

§ 150.17 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR CARBON MONOXIDE ALARMS 

 

 (A) Listings. Carbon monoxide alarms shall be listed in accordance with UL 2034. 

Combination carbon monoxide and smoke alarms shall be listed in accordance with UL 2034 and 

UL 217. 

 (B) Where required. Carbon monoxide alarms shall be provided as follows: 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 21 

  (1) New construction. For new construction, carbon monoxide alarms shall 

be provided in dwelling units where either or both of the following conditions exist. 

   (a) The dwelling unit contains a fuel-fired appliance or fireplace. 

   (b) The dwelling unit has an attached garage with an opening that 

communicates with the dwelling unit. 

  (2) Alterations, repairs and additions. Where alterations, repairs or 

additions requiring a building permit occur, or where one or more sleeping rooms are added or 

created in existing dwellings, or where fuel-fired appliances or fireplaces are added or replaced, 

the individual dwelling unit shall be equipped with carbon monoxide alarms located as required 

for new dwellings. 

    Exception:  Work involving the exterior surfaces of dwellings, 

such as the replacement of roofing or siding, or the addition or replacement of windows or doors, 

or the addition of a porch or deck, or the installation of a fuel-fired appliance that cannot 

introduce carbon monoxide to the interior of the dwelling, is exempt from the requirements of 

this section. 

  (3) Location. Carbon monoxide alarms in dwelling units shall be installed 

outside of each separate sleeping area in the immediate vicinity of the bedrooms. Where a fuel-

burning appliance is located within a bedroom or its attached bathroom, a carbon monoxide 

alarm shall be installed within the bedroom. 

 (C) Combination alarms. Combination carbon monoxide and smoke alarms shall be 

permitted to be used in lieu of carbon monoxide alarms. 

 (D) Power source. Carbon monoxide alarms shall receive their primary power from 

the building wiring where such wiring is served from a commercial source and, where primary 

power is interrupted, shall receive power from a battery. Wiring shall be permanent and without 

a disconnecting switch other than those required for overcurrent protection. 

   Exceptions: 

    (1) Carbon monoxide alarms shall be permitted to be battery 

operated where installed in buildings without commercial power. 

    (2) Carbon monoxide alarms installed in accordance with code 

section titled "Alterations, repairs and additions" shall be permitted to be battery powered. 

 (E) Carbon monoxide detection systems. Carbon monoxide detection systems shall 

be permitted to be used in lieu of carbon monoxide alarms as follows: 

  (1) General. Household carbon monoxide detection systems shall comply 

with NFPA 720. Carbon monoxide detectors shall be listed in accordance with UL 2075. 

  (2) Location. Carbon monoxide detectors shall be installed in the locations 

specified.  These locations supersede the locations specified in NFPA 720. 

  (3) Permanent fixture. Where a household carbon monoxide detection 

system is installed, it shall become a permanent fixture of the occupancy and owned by the 

homeowner. 

  (4) Combination detectors. Combination carbon monoxide and smoke 

detectors shall be permitted to be installed in carbon monoxide detection systems in lieu of 

carbon monoxide detectors, provided that they are listed in accordance with UL 2075 and UL 

268. 

 

§ 150.18 MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR BARRIERS FOR SWIMMING POOLS, SPAS 

AND HOT TUBS 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 22 

 

 (A) BARRIER REQUIREMENTS for swimming pools, spas, and hot tubs 

installed in or on the lot of a one or two family dwelling:  The provisions herein shall control 

the design of barriers for residential swimming pools, spas and hot tubs. These design controls 

are intended to provide protection against potential drownings and near drownings by restricting 

access to swimming pools, spas and hot tubs. 

 (B) Outdoor swimming pool. An outdoor swimming pool, including an in-ground, 

above-ground or on-ground pool, hot tub or spa shall be surrounded by a barrier which shall 

comply with the following: 

  (1)  The top of the barrier shall be at least 48 inches above grade measured on 

the side of the barrier which faces away from the swimming pool. The maximum vertical 

clearance between grade and the bottom of the barrier shall be 2 inches or 4 inches where 

concrete or fixed solid material is used measured on the side of the barrier which faces away 

from the swimming pool. Where the top of the pool structure is above grade, such as an 

aboveground pool, the barrier may be at ground level, such as the pool structure, or mounted on 

top of the pool structure. Where the barrier is mounted on top of the pool structure, the maximum 

vertical clearance between the top of the pool structure and the bottom of the barrier shall be 4 

inches. 

  (2) Openings in the barrier shall not allow passage of a 4-inch-diameter 

sphere. 

  (3) Solid barriers that do not have openings, such as a masonry or stone wall, 

shall not contain indentations or protrusions except for normal construction tolerances and tooled 

masonry joints. 

  (4) Where the barrier is composed of horizontal and vertical members and the 

distance between the tops of the horizontal members is less than 45 inches, the horizontal 

members shall be located on the swimming pool side of the fence. Spacing between vertical 

members shall not exceed 1-3/4 inches in width. Where there are decorative cutouts within 

vertical members, spacing within the cutouts shall not exceed 1-3/4 inches in width. 

  (5) Where the barrier is composed of horizontal and vertical members and the 

distance between the tops of the horizontal members is 45 inches or more, spacing between 

vertical members shall not exceed 4inches. Where there are decorative cutouts within vertical 

members, spacing within the cutouts shall not exceed 1-3/4 inches in width. 

  (6) Maximum mesh size for chain link fences shall be a 2-1/4 inch square 

unless the fence has slats fastened at the top or the bottom that reduce the openings to not more 

than 1-3/4 inches. 

  (7) Where the barrier is composed of diagonal members such as a lattice 

fence, the maximum opening formed by the diagonal members shall not be more than 1-3/4 

inches. 

  (8) Access gates shall comply with the requirements of the above, items 1 

through 7, and shall be equipped to accommodate a locking device. Pedestrian access gates shall 

open outward away from the pool and shall be self-closing and have a self-latching device.  

Gates other than pedestrian access gates shall have a self-latching device. Where the release 

mechanism of the self-latching device is located less than 54 inches from the bottom of the gate, 

the release mechanism and openings shall comply with the following: 

   (8.1) The release mechanism shall be located on the pool side of the gate 

at least 3 inches below the top of the gate; and 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 23 

   (8.2) The gate and barrier shall have no opening larger than 1/2 inch 

within 18 inches of the release mechanism. 

  (9) Where a wall of a dwelling serves as part of the barrier, one of the 

following conditions shall be met: 

   (9.1) The pool shall be equipped with a powered safety cover in 

compliance with ASTM F1346; or 

   (9.2) Doors with direct access to the pool through that wall shall be 

equipped with an alarm that produces an audible warning when the door and/or its screen, if 

present, are opened. The alarm shall be listed and labeled in accordance with UL 2017. The 

deactivation switch(es) shall be located at least 54 inches above the threshold of the door; or 

   (9.3) Other means of protection, such as self-closing doors with self-

latching devices, which are approved by the governing body, shall be acceptable as long as the 

degree of protection afforded is not less than the protection afforded by Item 9.1 or 9.2 described 

above. 

  (10) Where an above-ground pool structure is used as a barrier or where the 

barrier is mounted on top of the pool structure, and the means of access is a ladder or steps: 

   (10.1) The ladder or steps shall be capable of being secured, locked or 

removed to prevent access; or 

   (10.2) The ladder or steps shall be surrounded by a barrier that meets the 

requirements of items 1 through 9 above. When the ladder or steps are secured, locked or 

removed, any opening created shall not allow the passage of a 4-inch-diameter sphere. 

 (C) Indoor swimming pool. Walls surrounding an indoor swimming pool shall 

comply with §150.18(B)(9) above with regards to walls serving as barriers. 

 (D) Prohibited locations.  Barriers shall be located away from permanent structures, 

equipment or similar objects to prohibit them from being climbed upon to gain access. 

 

 (E) Barrier exceptions. Spas or hot tubs with a safety cover that complies with 

ASTM F1346 shall be exempt from the provisions of this section. 

§ 150.19 RESPONSIBILITIES OF OWNERS AND OCCUPANTS. 

 (A) Every owner of a dwelling containing two or more dwelling units shall be 

responsible for maintaining in a clean and sanitary condition the shared or public areas of the 

dwelling and premises thereof. 

 (B) Every occupant of a dwelling or dwelling unit shall keep in a clean and sanitary 

condition that part of the dwelling, dwelling unit and premises thereof which he or she occupies 

and controls. 

 (C) Every occupant of a dwelling or dwelling unit shall dispose of all rubbish and 

garbage in a clean and sanitary manner by placing it in the supplied storage facilities.  In all 

cases, the owner shall be responsible for the availability of rubbish and garbage storage facilities. 

 (D) Every occupant of a dwelling unit shall keep all supplied plumbing fixtures 

therein in a clean and sanitary condition and shall be responsible for the exercise of reasonable 

care in the proper use and operation of same. 

 (E) No occupant shall willfully destroy, deface or impair any of the facilities or 

equipment or any of the structure of a dwelling or dwelling unit. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 24 

(Ord. passed 5-15-89)  Penalty, see § 150.99 

 (F) Refer to GS 42 Article 5 regarding Landlord Tenant Residential Rental 

Agreements.   

§ 150.20 DUTIES AND POWERS OF BUILDING INSPECTOR. 

 (A) The Building Inspector is hereby designated as the officer to enforce the 

provisions of this subchapter and to exercise the duties and powers herein prescribed.  It shall be 

the duty of the Building Inspector: 

  (1) To investigate the dwelling conditions, and to inspect dwellings and 

dwelling units, located in the county, in order to determine which dwellings and dwelling units 

are unfit for human habitation and for the purpose of carrying out the objectives of this 

subchapter with respect to the dwellings and dwelling units; 

  (2) To take the action, together with other appropriate departments and 

agencies, public and private, as may be necessary to effect rehabilitation of housing which is 

deteriorated; 

  (3) To keep a record of the results of inspections made under this subchapter 

and an inventory of those dwellings that do not meet the minimum standards of fitness herein 

prescribed; and 

  (4) To perform the other duties as may be herein prescribed. 

 (B) The Building Inspector is authorized to exercise the powers as may be necessary 

or convenient to carry out and effectuate the purpose and provisions of this subchapter, including 

the following powers in addition to others herein granted: 

  (1) To investigate the dwelling conditions in the county; 

  (2) To administer oaths and affirmations, examine witnesses and receive 

evidence; 

  (3) To enter upon premises for the purpose of making examinations and 

inspections; provided, the entries shall be made in a manner as to cause the least possible 

inconvenience to the persons in possession; and 

  (4) To appoint and fix the duties of the officers, agents and employees as he 

or she deems necessary to carry out the purposes of this subchapter. 

 (C ) The Inspection Department may make periodic inspections, subject to the 

board of commissioners’ directions, when there is reasonable cause to believe that unsafe, 

unsanitary, otherwise hazardous or unlawful conditions may exist in buildings or 

structures within its planning and development regulation jurisdiction. However, when the 

inspection department determines that a safety hazard exists in one of the dwelling units 

within a multifamily building, which in the opinion of the Inspector poses an immediate 

threat to the occupant, the inspection department may inspect, in the absence of a specific 

complaint and actual knowledge of the unsafe condition, additional dwelling units in the 

multifamily building to determine if the same safety hazard exists. For purposes of this 

section, the term “reasonable cause” means any of the following:  

(1) The landlord or owner has a history of more than two verified 

violations of the house ordinances or codes within a 12-month 

period;  

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 25 

(2) There has been a complaint that substandard conditions exist 

within the building or there has been a request that the building be 

inspected, 

(3) The inspection department has actual knowledge of an unsafe 

condition within the building; or 

(4) Violations of the local ordinances or codes are visible from the 

outside of the property.  

 (D) In conducting inspections authorized under this section, the inspection 

department shall not discriminate between single-family and multifamily buildings or 

between owner-occupied or tenant-occupied buildings. In exercising this power, members 

of the department shall have the right to enter on any premises within the jurisdiction of 

the department at all reasonable hours for the purposes of inspection or other enforcement 

action, upon presentation of proper credentials. Nothing in this section shall be construed 

to prohibit periodic inspections in accordance with State fire prevention code or as 

otherwise required by State law.  

 

 

§ 150.21  INSPECTIONS; DUTY OF OWNERS AND OCCUPANTS. 

 For the purpose of making inspection, the Inspector is hereby authorized to enter, 

examine and survey, at all reasonable times, all dwelling units, accessory structures, rooming 

units and premises.  The owner or occupant of every dwelling, dwelling unit or rooming unit, or 

the person in charge thereof, shall give the Inspector free access to the dwelling, dwelling unit or 

rooming unit, and its premises at all reasonable times for the purpose of the inspection, 

examination and survey.  Every occupant of a dwelling unit shall give the owner thereof or his 

or her agent or employee access to any part of the dwelling or dwelling unit and its premises, at 

all reasonable times for the purpose of making the repairs or alterations as necessary to effect 

compliance with the provisions of this subchapter or with any lawful order issued pursuant to the 

provisions of this subchapter. 

§ 150.22 PROCEDURE FOR VIOLATIONS 

 

 (A) If the Inspector declares a residential or nonresidential building or structure to be 

unsafe, the Inspector must affix a notice of the unsafe character of the structure to a conspicuous 

place on the exterior wall of the building. For purposes of this section, “unsafe” means dangerous 

to life because of liability to fire, bad conditions of walls, overloaded floors, defective construction, 

decay, unsafe wiring or heating system, inadequate means of egress, or other causes. 

 (B) If a person removes a notice that has been affixed to a building by a local inspector 

and that states the dangerous character of the building, he is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor. 

 (C) Immediately upon affixing the notice upon the structure, the Inspector shall send 

notice, in writing, by certified or registered mail, to the owner of and parties in interest to the 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 26 

structure, of the unsafe character of the structure and request the owner takes prompt corrective 

action to repair, alter and improve the dwelling. 

 (D) If the owner fails to take prompt corrective action within thirty (30) days, the 

Inspector shall by certified or registered mail to the last known address or by personal service give 

written notice: 

  (1) That the building or structure is in a condition that appears to meet one or 

more of the following conditions: 

   (i) Constitutes a fire or safety hazard. 

   (ii) Is dangerous to life, health, or other property. 

   (iii) Is likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy, or danger 

to children. 

   (iv) Has a tendency to attract persons intent on criminal activities or 

other activities that would constitute a public nuisance. 

  (2) That a hearing will be held before the Inspector at a designated place and 

time, not later than 10 days after the date of notice, at which time the owner is entitled to be heard 

in person or by counsel and to present arguments and evidence pertaining to the matter; AND 

  (3) That following the hearing, the Inspector may issue any order to repair, 

close, vacate, or demolish the building that appears appropriate. 

 (E) If the name or whereabouts of the owner cannot after due diligence be discovered, 

the notice shall be considered properly and adequately served if a copy thereof is posted on the 

outside of the structure in question at least 10 days before the day of the hearing and a notice of 

the hearing is published in the local newspaper of general circulation at least once not later than 

one week before the hearing. 

 (F) If, at the hearing the Inspector finds that the building is in a condition that 

constitutes a fire or safety hazard or renders it dangerous to life, health, or other property, he/she 

shall issue a written order, stating his or her findings of fact to support the determination, and 

directing the owner of the building to remedy the defective conditions by repairing, closing, 

vacating, or demolishing the building or taking other necessary steps, within such period, not less 

than sixty (60) days, as the Inspector may prescribe; provided, that where the Inspector finds that 

there is imminent danger to life or other property, he/she may order that corrective action be taken 

in such lesser period as may be feasible. 

 (G) An owner may appeal the Inspector’s order to the Board of Commissioners by 

giving written notice of appeal to the Inspector and Clerk to the Board of Commissioners within 

10 days following the day the order is issued.  In the absence of an appeal, the Inspector’s order 

is final. 

 (H) The Board of Commissioners shall hear the appeal within a reasonable time. The 

Notice of Hearing shall be sent to the owner, in writing, by certified or registered mail, and posted 

on the outside of the structure in question. The hearing conducted shall be quasi-judicial. The 

Board of Commissioners may affirm, modify and affirm, or revoke the Inspector’s Order. 

 (I) An owner may appeal the Board of Commissioner’s order in Superior Court within 

30 days following the day the order is issued and they will hear the matter on judicial review. 

 (J) If the owner fails to comply with the order from which no appeal has been taken, 

the county may initiate any appropriate action or proceeding to prevent, restrain, correct, or abate 

the violation or prevent occupancy of the building involved, including removing or demolishing 

the structure. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances 

 American Legal Publishing Corp. 27 

 (K) The amounts incurred by the county in connection with the removal or demolition 

shall be a lien on the real property upon which the cost was incurred. The lien shall be filed, have 

the same priority, and be collected in the same manner as liens for special assessments as provided 

in Article 9 of Chapter 153A of the North Carolina General Statutes. 

 (L) If the building or structure is removed or demolished by the county, the county shall 

sell the usable materials of the building and any personal property, fixtures, or appurtenances found 

in or attached to the building.  The county shall credit the proceeds of the sale against the cost of 

the removal or demolition. Any balance remaining from the sale shall be deposited with the clerk 

of superior court of the county where the property is located and shall be disbursed by the court to 

the person found to be entitled thereto by a final order or decree of the court. 

 (M) The amounts incurred by the county in connection with the removal or demolition 

shall also be a lien against any other real property owned by the owner of the building or structure 

and located within the county’s jurisdictional limits, except for the owner’s primary residence. 

 (N) Nothing in this section shall be construed to impair or limit the power of the county 

to define and declare nuisances and to cause their removal or abatement by summary proceedings 

or otherwise. 

 (O) This Section shall be interpreted to comply with the North Carolina General 

Statutes as it exists to apply to residential and nonresidential buildings and as may be hereinafter 

amended. 

§ 150.23  PENALTY. 

 (A) Any person violating any provisions of this chapter for which no specific penalty 

is prescribed shall be subject to § 10.99. 

 (B) It shall be unlawful for the owner of any dwelling or dwelling unit to fail, neglect 

or refuse to repair, alter or improve the same, or to vacate and cease and remove or demolish the 

same, upon order of the Inspector duly made and served as herein provided, within the time 

specified in the order, and each day that any failure, neglect or refusal to comply with the order 

continues shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.  It shall be unlawful for the owner of 

any dwelling or dwelling unit, with respect to which an order has been issued pursuant to § 

150.22 to occupy or permit the occupancy of the same after the time prescribed in the order for 

its repair, alteration or improvement, or of its vacation and closing, and each day that the 

occupancy continues after the prescribed time shall constitute a separate and distinct offense. The 

violation of any provision of § 150.03 through § 150.22 shall constitute a penalty as provided by 

G.S. § 14-4. 

6.C.b

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
ap

te
r 

15
0 

C
o

d
e 

F
in

al
 R

ev
is

io
n

  (
24

98
 :

 R
ev

is
ed

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

d
e 

C
h

ap
te

r 
15

0 
M

in
im

u
m

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 C
o

d
e 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.A 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Lisa Anderson 

 
Item Title   July Monthly Report 

 

Attachments: 20190903135800897.pdf (PDF) 

 

Summary:  July Monthly Report 

 

Recommendation: Review and approve 

7.A

Packet Pg. 97



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
90

90
31

35
80

08
97

.p
d

f 
 (

25
01

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
90

90
31

35
80

08
97

.p
d

f 
 (

25
01

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
90

90
31

35
80

08
97

.p
d

f 
 (

25
01

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
90

90
31

35
80

08
97

.p
d

f 
 (

25
01

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
90

90
31

35
80

08
97

.p
d

f 
 (

25
01

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
90

90
31

35
80

08
97

.p
d

f 
 (

25
01

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
90

90
31

35
80

08
97

.p
d

f 
 (

25
01

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.B 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Dan Porter, Planning Director 

 Planning & Zoning 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Milltown Boat Ramp Contract - Dan Porter 

 

Attachments: Agenda Summary Milltown Boat Ramp (DOCX) 

Layden Marine contract (PDF) 

Plans  Specs (PDF) 

 

Summary, recommendation and supporting documentation attached. 

7.B

Packet Pg. 105



 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 
 

 

 

Meeting Date:   September 9, 2019 
 

Attachments:  Construction Contract 

  

Submitted By: Dan Porter 
 

ITEM TITLE:  Milltown Boat Ramp Replacement
  

 

SUMMARY: 
 

The Milltown Boat Ramp was constructed in 2004 with 

funding assistance from CAMA ACCESS Grant. Over the years it has been used 

consistently but has also undergone significant deterioration due to many storms. In 

spring of 2018 the ramp became dangerous due to undercutting erosion at the submerged 

end of the ramp and was closed to the public. 

 

The county contracted with a marine engineering consultant to prepare plans and 

specifications to repair and/or replace the, pier, rip rap, and bulkhead along with 

redesigning and replacing the boat ramp that may better weather the periodic storms. 

 

The project went to bid in January 2018 but no bids were received due to the short time 

frame objective and most contractors were busy in Wilmington with repairs resulting 

from major hurricanes.   

 

The project was rebid in June with a completion date for December 2019 Two bids were 

received and reviewed by staff with the following recommendation: 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Motion to approve contract for $41,556 with Layden Marine Inc. for the repair and 

replacement of the Milltown Boat Ramp and Pier per the plans a specification 

included in the request for proposals of June 14, 2019. 

 

MOTION MADE BY: 

C. Riggs  

T. White  

G. Meiggs  

R. Krainiak  

R. Munro  

NO MOTION   

VOTE: 

C. Riggs  

T. White  

G. Meiggs  

R. Krainiak  

R. Munro  

ABSENT           

RECUSED    

7.B.a

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
en

d
a 

S
u

m
m

ar
y 

M
ill

to
w

n
 B

o
at

 R
am

p
  (

25
03

 :
 M

ill
to

w
n

 B
o

at
 R

am
p

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



7.B.b

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ay
d

en
 M

ar
in

e 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

 (
25

03
 :

 M
ill

to
w

n
 B

o
at

 R
am

p
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

D
an

 P
o

rt
er

)



7.B.b

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ay
d

en
 M

ar
in

e 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

 (
25

03
 :

 M
ill

to
w

n
 B

o
at

 R
am

p
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

D
an

 P
o

rt
er

)



7.B.b

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ay
d

en
 M

ar
in

e 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

 (
25

03
 :

 M
ill

to
w

n
 B

o
at

 R
am

p
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

D
an

 P
o

rt
er

)



7.B.b

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ay
d

en
 M

ar
in

e 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

 (
25

03
 :

 M
ill

to
w

n
 B

o
at

 R
am

p
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

D
an

 P
o

rt
er

)



7.B.b

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ay
d

en
 M

ar
in

e 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

 (
25

03
 :

 M
ill

to
w

n
 B

o
at

 R
am

p
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

D
an

 P
o

rt
er

)



7.B.b

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ay
d

en
 M

ar
in

e 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

 (
25

03
 :

 M
ill

to
w

n
 B

o
at

 R
am

p
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

D
an

 P
o

rt
er

)



7.B.b

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ay
d

en
 M

ar
in

e 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

 (
25

03
 :

 M
ill

to
w

n
 B

o
at

 R
am

p
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

D
an

 P
o

rt
er

)



7.B.b

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ay
d

en
 M

ar
in

e 
co

n
tr

ac
t 

 (
25

03
 :

 M
ill

to
w

n
 B

o
at

 R
am

p
 C

o
n

tr
ac

t 
- 

D
an

 P
o

rt
er

)



7.B.c

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

la
n

s 
 S

p
ec

s 
 (

25
03

 :
 M

ill
to

w
n

 B
o

at
 R

am
p

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



7.B.c

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

la
n

s 
 S

p
ec

s 
 (

25
03

 :
 M

ill
to

w
n

 B
o

at
 R

am
p

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



7.B.c

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

la
n

s 
 S

p
ec

s 
 (

25
03

 :
 M

ill
to

w
n

 B
o

at
 R

am
p

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



7.B.c

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

la
n

s 
 S

p
ec

s 
 (

25
03

 :
 M

ill
to

w
n

 B
o

at
 R

am
p

 C
o

n
tr

ac
t 

- 
D

an
 P

o
rt

er
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Board Appointments 

 

Item Number: 8.A 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Tim White, Parks & Recreation Director 

 Parks & Recreation 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Parks & Recreation Advisory Board - Marc O'Neal 

 

Attachments: Marc O'Neal (PDF) 

 

Summary: 

It is the request of staff that Marc O'Neal be appointed to the Parks & Recreation Advisory Board. 

Recommendation: 

Approve appointment. 

8.A

Packet Pg. 119



8.A.a

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 M

ar
c 

O
'N

ea
l  

(2
49

7 
: 

P
ar

ks
 &

 R
ec

re
at

io
n

 A
d

vi
so

ry
 B

o
ar

d
 -

 M
ar

c 
O

'N
ea

l)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.A 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   BOC Meeting Minutes - August 5, 2019 

 

Attachments: bocminutes_080519 (DOCX) 

 

9.A

Packet Pg. 121



1 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

August 5, 2019 

Closed Session – 6:00 PM 

Regular Meeting – 7:00 PM 

Historic Courtroom 

Camden, North Carolina 

 

MINUTES 

The regular meeting of the Camden County Board of Commissioners was held on August 5, 2019 in the Historic 

Courtroom, Camden, North Carolina.  

 

CALL TO ORDER  

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Tom White at 6:00 PM.  Also Present: Vice Chairman Clayton Riggs, 

Commissioners Garry Meiggs, Randy Krainiak and Ross Munro.   

 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

Motion to go into Closed Session to discuss contract negotiations. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Ross Munro, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

Motion to come out of Closed Session. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Ross Munro, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

The Board came out of Closed Session at 6:40 PM and was recessed by the Chairman until 7:00 PM. 

 

At 7:00 PM Chairman White reconvened the Board of Commissioners for its regular meeting and welcomed 

everyone in attendance. 

 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Rev. Boyce Porter gave the invocation and led in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

ITEM 1. PUBLIC COMMENTS        

 

None. 

 

ITEM 2. CONSIDERATION OF AGENDA        

 

Motion to approve the agenda as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



2 

 

ITEM 3. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT    

 

Clerk to the Board Karen Davis read the Conflict Of Interest Disclosure Statement. 

 

ITEM 4. PRESENTATIONS          

 

A. Emergency Management - Christy Saunders presented the Know Your Zone Initiative, a project of the 

North Carolina Division of Emergency Management in conjunction with the National Hurricane Center.  

The evacuation zone maps will be placed in prominent locations throughout the county.   

 

South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors 

 

Chairman White recessed the meeting of the Board of Commissioners and called to order the South Camden Water 

& Sewer District Board of Directors Meeting. 

 

Public Comments – None 

 

Consideration of the Agenda 

 

Motion to approve the agenda as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

New Business 

 

A. Monthly Report – David Credle 

 

 
 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



3 

 

Motion to approve the monthly report as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

Resolution for Approving Local Water Supply Plan 

 

 
 

Motion to approve the Resolution for Approving Local Water Supply Plan. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

There being no further matters for discussion Chairman White called for a motion to adjourn. 

 

Motion to adjourn South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

Chairman White reconvened the meeting of the Board of Commissioners. 

 

 

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



4 

 

ITEM 5. PUBLIC HEARING          

 

A. Ordinance 2019-07-01 Rezoning Application Camden County 

 

Motion to open Public Hearing for Ordinance 2019-07-01 Rezoning Application for Camden County. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

Planning Director Dan Porter and County Manager presented a brief overview of the application. 

 

Neighborhood meeting was held March 1, 2019 at the South Mills Fire Station. 

 

Planning Board met on June 19, 2019 and after discussion with staff, adjacent property owners, and the 

representative for the Naval Support Activity Hampton Roads who submitted a letter on concerns with proposed 

uses and their possible effects on the Relocatable Over the Horizon Radar (ROTHR) included in packet, Planning 

Board recommended approval of the rezoning on a 6-0 vote. 

 

Mr. Porter continued his presentation with the Staff Report. 

 

   
   

 

 

 

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



5 

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



6 

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

Chairman White opened the floor for public comment. 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



7 

 

Will Stafford of 102 Lake Drive addressed the Board and expressed the following concerns: 

 The rezoning does not harm existing citizens. 

 The County should give serious thought to the businesses that will occupy the property. 

 Noise, traffic, and light pollution. 

 Flooding – runoff concerns. 

 Camden Plantation development’s impact on the neighbors. 

 Buffers 

 Property value. 

 Effect on the Welcome Center. 

 The effect of the future I-87 exchange. 

Mr. Stafford suggested that the property stay ‘as is’ for the present time. 

 

County Manager Ken Bowman explained that the County is working on a master plan of the positioning of certain 

buildings on the property to include the cut-through road that runs parallel to US 17.   

 

Dan Porter also shared that he had received a letter and phone call from Mrs. Loretta Whitehurst of 222 Mallory 

Buck Road in Gates, NC, who wanted to be on record as opposing the rezoning.  It is her opinion that Camden 

should remain a rural farming community. 

 

Vice Chairman Riggs reiterated the fact that rezoning decisions are preliminary and do not require preliminary or 

site plans for the property in question. 

 

Motion to close the Public Hearing. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

Motion to add Ordinance 2019-07-01 to New Business as Item 6.D. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

ITEM 6. NEWS BUSINESS          

 

A. Monthly Tax Report 

 

County Manager Ken Bowman presented the tax report for June 2019. 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



8 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

30 Largest Unpaid – Real 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



9 

 

  

30 Oldest Unpaid – Real 

 
 

30 Largest Unpaid – Personal 

 
 

30 Oldest Unpaid – Personal 

 
 

 

  

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



10 

 

Motion to approve the tax report as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

B. Travel Policy 

 

County Manager Ken Bowman presented the revised travel policy. 

 

   
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



11 

 

   
 

   
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



12 

 

   
 

Vice Chairman Riggs and Commissioner Meiggs questioned the mileage reimbursement and expressed opinions that 

it should be the same as the IRS.  Commissioner Munro questioned the meal per diem. 

 

Following a brief discussion Chairman White called for a motion. 

 

Motion to approve the travel policy with the amendment to change the rate to the IRS policy. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

C. Revised Camden Code Chapter 150 Minimum Housing Code 

 

Planning Director Dan Porter introduced the Revised Camden Code Chapter 150 Minimum Housing Code and 

explained the following: 

 

In summary there are two types of changes being recommended.   

 

Sections 150.03 through 150.18 prescribe the specific minimum standards for habitable housing. The existing 

Chapter 150 includes some specifics but primarily refers to citations in the state building codes.  In order to make 

the ordinance more user friendly the revised chapter states the specific standards for each type of structural 

elements.  The standards are verbatim from the State Building Code. 

 

Sections 150.19 through 150.23 are revised to outline a clear procedure to prosecute violations in compliance with 

the General Statutes.  The procedure outlines the specific notices and a hearing required and gives the building 

inspector authority to condemn and have non-compliant structures demolished, subject to appeal to the Board of 

Commissioners.  If an appeal is not made within 10 days the inspector’s decision is final. 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



13 

 

Commissioner Krainiak stated that he would like more time for review of the document before a vote is taken. 

 

Mr. Porter and Counsel Megan Morgan both noted that the code is written to align and comply with state laws. 

 

Motion to approve replacing the existing Chapter 150 Building Regulations: Construction with the proposed 

Ordinance 2019-08-01. 

RESULT: FAILED [UNANIMOUS VOTE REQUIRED FOR ADOPTION] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Meiggs, Riggs 

NOES: Krainiak, Munro 

  

Ordinance 2019-08-01 will again be considered at the September 9, 2019 meeting of the Board of Commissioners. 

 

D. Ordinance 2019-07-01 Rezoning Application Camden County 

 

Motion that the requested zoning is consistent with Camden County’s Comprehensive Plan as it is property 

identified as Mixed-Use Employment which uses are permitted in the Highway Commercial Zoning District. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

Motion to approve Ordinance 2019-07-01 Rezoning Application (UDO 2019-05-28). 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



14 

 

   
 

ITEM 7. BOARD APPOINTMENTS         

 

A. Parks & Recreation Advisory Board 

 

Motion to reappoint Karen Friend and Keith Ward to the Parks & Recreation Advisory Board for an 

additional term. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

ITEM 8. CONSENT AGENDA          

 

The Consent Agenda was amended to add the Letterhead Use Policy as Item 8.N. 

 

A. BOC Meeting Minutes – July 8, 2019 

B. BOC Meeting Minutes – July 9, 2019 

C. Budget Transfers 

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



15 

 

 
   

 

 
 

 
 

D. Budget Amendments 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



16 

 

 
 

E. DMV Monthly Report 

 

 
 

 

 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



17 

 

F. Tax Collection Report 

 

 
 

 

G. Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

 
 

H. Surplus Property – Sheriff’s Office 

 

Item Disposal Method Suggested Value Reason for Surplus 

One of Two Zodiac Boats GovDeals $500 Unusable for office 

Two of Two Zodiac Boats GovDeals $500 Unusable for office 

Craft Boat with Trailer GovDeals $500 Unusable for office 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



18 

 

I. Grant Application – Sheriff’s Office 

 

 
 

 

J. Home & Community Care Block Grant for Older Adults  

 

  
 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



19 

 

   
 

 
 

 

K. The American Legion Department of North Carolina 

 

 
 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



20 

 

L. Annual Senior Nutrition Contract – On file in the Finance Office 

 

M. Set Public Hearing – Ordinance 2019-09-01 Rezoning Application  

 

N. Letterhead Use Policy  

 

 
 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as amended. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

 

ITEM 9. COUNTY MANAGER’S REPORT        

 

County Manager Ken Bowman included the following in his report: 

 Albemarle Commission Quarterly Chairman / County Manager Meeting – August 6, 2019 

 MB Kahn in-progress update on School Facility Study with BOC/BOE Chairs and Vice Chairs– August 28, 

2019 at 6 PM; update with both full boards the week of September 9-13 (Date and Time TBD) 

 Coast Guard Day took place August 1, 2019 – Camden participants included Donna Stewart, Sarah Hill, 

Kim Perry, Brenda Bowman, Joe Hiatt (Park Service) 

 NCACC Annual Conference – August 22-24, 2019  

 Citizen News – Next edition scheduled for end of August 

 Updated policies for Finance, Per Diem and Letterhead Usage 

 Labor Day – September 2, 2019 (County Offices Closed) 

 Next Board of Commissioners Meeting – September 9, 2019; 7:00 PM 

 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



21 

 

ITEM 10. COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS         

 

 Vice Chairman Riggs expressed concern in regard to material left by Mediacom near his property. 

 Chairman White recognized Vice Chairman Riggs for his completion of the Albemarle Leadership Program 

sponsored by the local Chambers of Commerce. 

 

ITEM 11. INFORMATION, REPORTS & MINUTES FROM OTHER AGENCIES    

 

The following items were provided for information purposes: 

A. FY 18-19 YTD Sales Tax Revenue Collection 

B. Register of Deeds Report 

C. Library Report 

D. NC Forest Service Annual Report 

 

ITEM 12. OTHER MATTERS          

None. 

 

ITEM 13. ADJOURN           

 

There being no further matters for discussion Chairman White adjourned the meeting of the Board of 

Commissioners at 8:20 PM. 

       

            

      Tom White, Chairman 

      Camden County Board of Commissioners 

ATTEST: 

 

     

Karen M. Davis, NCCCC 

Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

9.A.a

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

08
05

19
  (

24
90

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 5
, 2

01
9)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.B 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Sally Norfleet, 

 Finance 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Budget Amendments 

 

Attachments: Budget Amendments (PDF) 

 

9.B

Packet Pg. 143



9.B.a

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

24
94

 :
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



9.B.a

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

24
94

 :
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.C 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Tax Collection Report 

 

Attachments: Tax Collection Report (PDF) 

 

9.C

Packet Pg. 146



9.C.a

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ax
 C

o
lle

ct
io

n
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

24
81

 :
 T

ax
 C

o
lle

ct
io

n
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.D 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

 

Attachments: Pickups, Releases & Refunds (PDF) 

 

9.D

Packet Pg. 148



9.D.a

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ic
ku

p
s,

 R
el

ea
se

s 
&

 R
ef

u
n

d
s 

 (
24

95
 :

 P
ic

ku
p

s,
 R

el
ea

se
s 

&
 R

ef
u

n
d

s)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.E 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Amy Barnett, Planning Clerk 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   Refunds Over $100.00 

 

Attachments: 20190808161241585.pdf (PDF) 

 

Summary:   Refunds over $100.00 

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

9.E

Packet Pg. 150



9.E.a

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
90

80
81

61
24

15
85

.p
d

f 
 (

24
78

 :
 R

ef
u

n
d

s 
O

ve
r 

$1
00

.0
0 

- 
Ju

ly
 2

01
9)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.F 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   Refunds Over $100.00 

 

Attachments: 20190903113544693.pdf (PDF) 

 

Summary:   Refunds over $100.00 for August, 2019 

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

9.F

Packet Pg. 152



9.F.a

Packet Pg. 153

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
90

90
31

13
54

46
93

.p
d

f 
 (

25
00

 :
 R

ef
u

n
d

s 
O

ve
r 

$1
00

.0
0 

- 
A

u
g

u
st

 2
01

9)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.G 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   DMV Monthly Report 

 

Attachments: 20190807123753523.pdf (PDF) 

 

Summary:   DMV Monthly Report October, 19 Renewals due 11/15/2019 

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

9.G

Packet Pg. 154



9.G.a

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
90

80
71

23
75

35
23

.p
d

f 
 (

24
77

 :
 D

M
V

 M
o

n
th

ly
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.H 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Surplus Property Requests 

 

Attachments: Surplus Property (PDF) 

 

Summary: 

See attached Surplus Property Requests from the following departments: 

~ Cooperative Extension 

~ Planning  

~ Elections 

Recommendation: 

Approval. 

9.H

Packet Pg. 156



9.H.a

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
  (

24
91

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
ts

)



9.H.a

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
  (

24
91

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
ts

)



9.H.a

Packet Pg. 159

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
  (

24
91

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
ts

)



9.H.a

Packet Pg. 160

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
  (

24
91

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
ts

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.I 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Proposed County Logo & Tag Line 

 

Attachments: Letterhead_RevisedAugust2019 (PDF) 

 

Summary: 

The current logo was designed years ago when the county was recruiting a wind farm which 

ultimately ended up in Pasquotank County. To date there has been no inquiries from outside 

wind farm energy agencies seeking to locate in Camden County. In addition any project of this 

type would ultimately be scrutinized by the Department of the Navy as possibly interfering with 

the Relocatable Over-the-Horizon Radar (ROTHR) system.  

Bottom Line: This logo does not accurately represent Camden County.  

Emery advertising, from Wake Forest, has been hired to assist with branding, marketing, and 

designing a logo that represents the area. The logo (attached) is significant because of the 

location to the coast and the water that surrounds Camden on 3 sides. It also is boundless energy 

as displayed by the tag line: Boundless. Opportunities. The wave itself is also in the shape of a C 

for Camden. In keeping with some tradition the colors used are very close to the colors used in 

the other logo. Logos occasionally are changed to keep pace with the changing environment and 

to get noticed. Emery advertising was assisting the Economic Development Director with 

creating and designing business cards, new logo, and marketing brochures. Emery will also be 

working with the Tourism Director to create new marketing materials for the Visitors Center. 

The logo was vetted with the administration staff prior to sending to the Board of 

Commissioners. Select business cards have been printed and distributed. To date there has been 

no objection and has been well received.  

Recommendation: 

Approve logo as presented. 

9.I

Packet Pg. 161



9.I.a

Packet Pg. 162

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

et
te

rh
ea

d
_R

ev
is

ed
A

u
g

u
st

20
19

  (
24

92
 :

 P
ro

p
o

se
d

 C
o

u
n

ty
 L

o
g

o
 &

 T
ag

 L
in

e)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.J 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Resolution 2019-09-01 

 

Attachments: Resolution 2019-09-01 (DOCX) 

 

Summary: 

Resolution 2019-09-01 (attached) is a resolution opposing the proposed Amendment 2 of the 

Southern Flounder Fishery Management Plan. 

Recommendation: 

Approve. 

9.J

Packet Pg. 163



 
 

Resolution 2019-09-01 

 

RESOLUTION OPPOSING PROPOSED AMENDMENT 2 

OF THE SOUTHERN FLOUNDER FISHERY MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 

WHEREAS, the Camden County Board of Commissioners is aware that the 

members of the Carteret County Marine Fisheries Board is knowledgeable of relevant 

issues that would have a detrimental effect on the County's recreational and commercial 

fishermen; and 

WHEREAS, members of Carteret County Marine Fisheries Advisory Board, 

some of whom are recreational fishermen and head boat operators familiar with the fishery 

of North Carolina, are greatly concerned about the proposed Amendment 2 of the 

Southern Flounder Fishery Management Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Camden County Board of Commissioners supports the position 

of the Carteret County Marine Fisheries Board concerning the proposed Amendment 2 

based in part on the following: 

 Southern flounder supports North Carolina's most economically important 

commercial finfish fishery and is an important recreational fishery in estuarine 

waters; 

 The proposed Amendment 2 recommends a 62% reduction in fishing mortality 

the first year that includes the fall of 2019 and a 72% reduction the next year which 

will have devastating impacts to the fishing economies of Camden County; 

 The Division of Marine Fisheries and the MFC have decided to pursue an 

accelerated timeline for adoption of Amendment 2, and have chosen fishing 

reduction goals that are not practicable or reasonable; 

 The 10-year overfishing stoppage requirement where the biology of the particular 

fish, environmental conditions or lack of sufficient data are incompatible with 

professional standards for fisheries management; 

 The stock assessments of southern flounder dated January 2017 and 2019 are 

technically sound and were peer-reviewed in a public setting by an outside group 

of reputable scientists; 

 Commercial fishing efforts have been substantially reduced the last 18 years, with 
gill net yardage reduced, allowable fishing days reduced, reducing the number of 

9.J.a

Packet Pg. 164

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

 (
24

96
 :

 R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
O

p
p

o
si

n
g

 P
ro

p
o

se
d

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
2 

o
f 

th
e 

S
o

u
th

er
n

 F
lo

u
n

d
er

 F
is

h
er

y 
M

n
g

m
t.



hours gill nets can be fished.  From 2003 to 2015, we went from 1,000 to 300-pound 

nets - a 70% reduction, and completely closing fish areas; 

 A high degree of uncertainty exists in the stock assessment including: (1) the lack 

of a comprehensive fishery independent index, (2) a lack of data for the offshore 

southern flounder component that are mostly older adult females, (3) a weak 

relationship between  the  spawning  stock  and  the  recruits  they  provide,  (4) the 

unpredictable oceanic conditions where southern flounder spawn, (5) 

interannual variation in recruitment i.e., juveniles, and (6) a recent study by 

North Carolina State University that indicated environmental conditions may 

cause changes in the proportions of males and females that further complicate 

the management of this species; 

 The DMF and MFC used 2017 (termed the terminal year) "removals" to achieve 

reductions…  Fisheries experts recognize that the terminal year estimates contain 

the most uncertainty.  The DMF could have used an average of the most 

representative years; 

 WHEREAS, these issues provide evidence that pursuing an accelerated version of 

an FMP Amendment, that was adopted after the 1997 Fisheries Reform Act (FRA), does 

not abide by the 10-year overfishing stoppage requirements of the FRA to develop sound 

management strategies for the conservation of southern flounder; and 

 WHEREAS, the Camden County Board of Commissioners supports management 

of southern flounder that incorporates the whole body of available evidence and considers 

the biology of the fish, environmental conditions, prior management actions, and 

uncertainties about the data; 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Camden County Board of 

Commissioners reaffirms its unwavering commitment to North Carolina's fishing industry 

by supporting the position of the Carteret County Marine Fisheries Board and strongly 

opposes Amendment 2 or any other action that would cause continued harm to the County's 

recreational and commercial fishermen. 

This, the 9th day of September 2019. 

 

             

       Tom White, Chairman 

       Camden County Board of Commissioners 

 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Karen M. Davis, NCCCC 

Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

9.J.a

Packet Pg. 165

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 2
01

9-
09

-0
1 

 (
24

96
 :

 R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 2

01
9-

09
-0

1 
O

p
p

o
si

n
g

 P
ro

p
o

se
d

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
2 

o
f 

th
e 

S
o

u
th

er
n

 F
lo

u
n

d
er

 F
is

h
er

y 
M

n
g

m
t.



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 9.K 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   DHHS Request 

 

Attachments: DHHS Funding Request (PDF) 

 

Summary: 

See attached letter of request from NC Department of Health and Human Services. 

9.K

Packet Pg. 166



9.K.a

Packet Pg. 167

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

H
H

S
 F

u
n

d
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t 

 (
24

85
 :

 D
H

H
S

 R
eq

u
es

t 
- 

O
p

er
at

io
n

 S
an

ta
 C

la
u

s 
P

ro
je

ct
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 12.A 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Sally Norfleet, 

 Finance 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   YTD Sales Tax Revenue Collections 

 

Attachments: YTD Sales Tax Revenue Collections (PDF) 

 

12.A

Packet Pg. 168



12.A.a

Packet Pg. 169

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 Y

T
D

 S
al

es
 T

ax
 R

ev
en

u
e 

C
o

lle
ct

io
n

s 
 (

24
84

 :
 Y

T
D

 S
al

es
 T

ax
 R

ev
en

u
e 

C
o

lle
ct

io
n

s)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 12.B 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Tammie Krauss, Register of Deeds 

 Register of Deeds 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Register of Deeds Report 

 

Attachments: July 2019 (PDF) 

August 2019 (PDF) 

 

12.B

Packet Pg. 170



12.B.a

Packet Pg. 171

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 2
01

9 
 (

24
82

 :
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

)



12.B.a

Packet Pg. 172

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 2
01

9 
 (

24
82

 :
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

)



12.B.b

Packet Pg. 173

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

u
g

u
st

 2
01

9 
 (

24
82

 :
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

)



12.B.b

Packet Pg. 174

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

u
g

u
st

 2
01

9 
 (

24
82

 :
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 12.C 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   JCPC Meeting Minutes 

 

Attachments: JCPC Meeting Minutes (PDF) 

 

12.C

Packet Pg. 175



12.C.a

Packet Pg. 176

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s 
 (

24
83

 :
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



12.C.a

Packet Pg. 177

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s 
 (

24
83

 :
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



12.C.a

Packet Pg. 178

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s 
 (

24
83

 :
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



12.C.a

Packet Pg. 179

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s 
 (

24
83

 :
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



12.C.a

Packet Pg. 180

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s 
 (

24
83

 :
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



12.C.a

Packet Pg. 181

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s 
 (

24
83

 :
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



12.C.a

Packet Pg. 182

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s 
 (

24
83

 :
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



12.C.a

Packet Pg. 183

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s 
 (

24
83

 :
 J

C
P

C
 M

ee
ti

n
g

 M
in

u
te

s)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 12.D 

Meeting Date:   September 09, 2019 

 

Submitted By: Kim Perry, 

 Library 

 Prepared by: Kim Perry 

 
Item Title   Library Report 

 

Attachments: 19-07 (DOCX) 

 

12.D

Packet Pg. 184



Camden County Public Library 

July 2019 Statistics 

 
 

Visitor Count 2,204 

Materials Check Outs & Renewals 3,721 

Computer/ Wireless Use 713/497 

Questions Answered 346 

Juvenile Programs/Attendance 18/340 

Teen/Tween Programs/Attendance 3/23 

Adult Programs/Attendance 3/28 

Outreach Programs/Attendance 4/118 

Meeting Room Usage/Attendance 11/171 

Days/Hours Open 23/203 

# Items in Collection 18,417 

Library Card Holders 3,279 

 
 

 

Comparison by Year 

2017-2019 

    

           

4,519

4,036
3,721

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

Jul 2017 Jul 2018 Jul 2019

Circulation
2,491

2,060
2,204

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Jul 2017 Jul 2018 Jul 2019

Attendance

12.D.a

Packet Pg. 185

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

9-
07

  (
24

79
 :

 L
ib

ra
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

)


	Agenda Packet
	Call to Order
	6:00 PM Closed Session - Property Acquisition and Personnel
	7:00 PM Reconvene Board of Commissioners
	Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance
	Pastor Bill Blake - McBride United Methodist Church

	1. Public Comments
	2. Consideration of Agenda
	3. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement
	4. Presentations
	A. 2502 : YouthVoice Conference - Adriane Navolis
	Printout: 2502 : YouthVoice Conference - Adriane Navolis

	B. 2493 : CMS Junior Beta Club - Starr Brinner
	Printout: 2493 : CMS Junior Beta Club - Starr Brinner

	C. 2480 : Regional Advisory Council - Gwen Wescott
	Printout: 2480 : Regional Advisory Council - Gwen Wescott

	D. 2489 : Broadband Update - Ronald Van Geijn, Eastern Shore Communications
	Printout: 2489 : Broadband Update - Ronald Van Geijn, Eastern Shore Communications


	Recess to South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors Meeting
	Reconvene Board of Commissioners
	5. Public Hearings
	A. 2486 : Ordinance 2019-09-01 Rezoning Application
	Printout: 2486 : Ordinance 2019-09-01 Rezoning Application
	a. Agenda Summary Sheet Ordinance 2019-09-01
	b. Staff Report
	c. Supporting Documents
	d. 2019-09-01 - Ordinance Amending the Official Zoning Map - Eric Wood


	6. Old Business
	A. 2499 : Travel Policy - Ken Bowman
	Printout: 2499 : Travel Policy - Ken Bowman
	a. Travel Policy
	b. Travel Authorization
	c. Copy of TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT FORM

	B. 2504 : Library Lease Contract - Ken Bowman
	Printout: 2504 : Library Lease Contract - Ken Bowman
	a. 2019-08-29 rev Camden County Lease

	C. 2498 : Revised Camden Code Chapter 150 Minimum Housing Code - Dan Porter
	Printout: 2498 : Revised Camden Code Chapter 150 Minimum Housing Code - Dan Porter
	a. Agenda Summary Sheet Minimum Housing code 2
	b. Chapter 150 Code Final Revision


	7. New Business
	A. 2501 : Tax Report
	Printout: 2501 : Tax Report
	a. 20190903135800897.pdf

	B. 2503 : Milltown Boat Ramp Contract - Dan Porter
	Printout: 2503 : Milltown Boat Ramp Contract - Dan Porter
	a. Agenda Summary Milltown Boat Ramp
	b. Layden Marine contract
	c. Plans  Specs


	8. Board Appointments
	A. 2497 : Parks & Recreation Advisory Board - Marc O'Neal
	Printout: 2497 : Parks & Recreation Advisory Board - Marc O'Neal
	a. Marc O'Neal


	9. Consent Agenda
	A. 2490 : BOC Meeting Minutes - August 5, 2019
	Printout: 2490 : BOC Meeting Minutes - August 5, 2019
	a. bocminutes_080519

	B. 2494 : Budget Amendments
	Printout: 2494 : Budget Amendments
	a. Budget Amendments

	C. 2481 : Tax Collection Report
	Printout: 2481 : Tax Collection Report
	a. Tax Collection Report

	D. 2495 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	Printout: 2495 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	a. Pickups, Releases & Refunds

	E. 2478 : Refunds Over $100.00 - July 2019
	Printout: 2478 : Refunds Over $100.00 - July 2019
	a. 20190808161241585.pdf

	F. 2500 : Refunds Over $100.00 - August 2019
	Printout: 2500 : Refunds Over $100.00 - August 2019
	a. 20190903113544693.pdf

	G. 2477 : DMV Monthly Report
	Printout: 2477 : DMV Monthly Report
	a. 20190807123753523.pdf

	H. 2491 : Surplus Property Requests
	Printout: 2491 : Surplus Property Requests
	a. Surplus Property

	I. 2492 : Proposed County Logo & Tag Line
	Printout: 2492 : Proposed County Logo & Tag Line
	a. Letterhead_RevisedAugust2019

	J. 2496 : Resolution 2019-09-01 Opposing Proposed Amendment 2 of the Southern Flounder Fishery Mngmt. Plan
	Printout: 2496 : Resolution 2019-09-01 Opposing Proposed Amendment 2 of the Southern Flounder Fishery Mngmt. Plan
	a. Resolution 2019-09-01

	K. 2485 : DHHS Request - Operation Santa Claus Project
	Printout: 2485 : DHHS Request - Operation Santa Claus Project
	a. DHHS Funding Request


	10. County Manager's Report
	11. Commissioners' Reports
	12. Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies
	A. 2484 : YTD Sales Tax Revenue Collections
	Printout: 2484 : YTD Sales Tax Revenue Collections
	a. YTD Sales Tax Revenue Collections

	B. 2482 : Register of Deeds Report
	Printout: 2482 : Register of Deeds Report
	a. July 2019
	b. August 2019

	C. 2483 : JCPC Meeting Minutes
	Printout: 2483 : JCPC Meeting Minutes
	a. JCPC Meeting Minutes

	D. 2479 : Library Report
	Printout: 2479 : Library Report
	a. 19-07


	13. Other Matters
	14. Adjourn

	Appendix
	4.A · 2502 : YouthVoice Conference - Adriane Navolis
	4.B · 2493 : CMS Junior Beta Club - Starr Brinner
	4.C · 2480 : Regional Advisory Council - Gwen Wescott
	4.D · 2489 : Broadband Update - Ronald Van Geijn, Eastern Shore Communications
	5.A · 2486 : Ordinance 2019-09-01 Rezoning Application
	5.A.a · Agenda Summary Sheet Ordinance 2019-09-01
	5.A.b · Staff Report
	5.A.c · Supporting Documents
	5.A.d · 2019-09-01 - Ordinance Amending the Official Zoning Map - Eric Wood

	6.A · 2499 : Travel Policy - Ken Bowman
	6.A.a · Travel Policy
	6.A.b · Travel Authorization
	6.A.c · Copy of TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT FORM

	6.B · 2504 : Library Lease Contract - Ken Bowman
	6.B.a · 2019-08-29 rev Camden County Lease

	6.C · 2498 : Revised Camden Code Chapter 150 Minimum Housing Code - Dan Porter
	6.C.a · Agenda Summary Sheet Minimum Housing code 2
	6.C.b · Chapter 150 Code Final Revision

	7.A · 2501 : Tax Report
	7.A.a · 20190903135800897.pdf

	7.B · 2503 : Milltown Boat Ramp Contract - Dan Porter
	7.B.a · Agenda Summary Milltown Boat Ramp
	7.B.b · Layden Marine contract
	7.B.c · Plans  Specs

	8.A · 2497 : Parks & Recreation Advisory Board - Marc O'Neal
	8.A.a · Marc O'Neal

	9.A · 2490 : BOC Meeting Minutes - August 5, 2019
	9.A.a · bocminutes_080519

	9.B · 2494 : Budget Amendments
	9.B.a · Budget Amendments

	9.C · 2481 : Tax Collection Report
	9.C.a · Tax Collection Report

	9.D · 2495 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	9.D.a · Pickups, Releases & Refunds

	9.E · 2478 : Refunds Over $100.00 - July 2019
	9.E.a · 20190808161241585.pdf

	9.F · 2500 : Refunds Over $100.00 - August 2019
	9.F.a · 20190903113544693.pdf

	9.G · 2477 : DMV Monthly Report
	9.G.a · 20190807123753523.pdf

	9.H · 2491 : Surplus Property Requests
	9.H.a · Surplus Property

	9.I · 2492 : Proposed County Logo & Tag Line
	9.I.a · Letterhead_RevisedAugust2019

	9.J · 2496 : Resolution 2019-09-01 Opposing Proposed Amendment 2 of the Southern Flounder Fishery Mngmt. Plan
	9.J.a · Resolution 2019-09-01

	9.K · 2485 : DHHS Request - Operation Santa Claus Project
	9.K.a · DHHS Funding Request

	12.A · 2484 : YTD Sales Tax Revenue Collections
	12.A.a · YTD Sales Tax Revenue Collections

	12.B · 2482 : Register of Deeds Report
	12.B.a · July 2019
	12.B.b · August 2019

	12.C · 2483 : JCPC Meeting Minutes
	12.C.a · JCPC Meeting Minutes

	12.D · 2479 : Library Report
	12.D.a · 19-07



